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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not purely historical are
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities laws, including, without limitation,
statements regarding our expectations, beliefs, anticipations, commitments, intentions and strategies regarding
the future. In some cases you can identify forward-looking statements by.terms such as “may,” “could,”
“would,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “intend,” “forecast,” “qnticipate,” “believe,”.
“estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology.
Actual results could differ from those projected in any forward-looking statements for the reasons, among others,
detailed in “Factors That May Affect Future Results” beginning on page 29. The forward-looking statements are
made as of the date of this Form 10-K and we assume no obligation to update the forward-looking statements, or
to update the reasons why actual results could differ from those projected in the forward-looking statements.
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PARTI
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a global provider of cost-effective, high-performance photonic processing solutions that enable
optical communications networks to achieve next-generation performance.

Our photonic processing solutions are used by telecommunications system integrators and their network
carrier customers to enhance system performance and increase network speed and efficiency. Communications
network carriers are deploying fiber optic transmission systems to improve the networks’ ability to transmit and
manage the high volume of voice, video and data traffic generated by the growth of the Internet and other
bandwidth intensive applications. Fundamentally, photonic processing technologies allow for data to be
transmitted on fiber optic networks. More specifically, these technologies generate and receive wavelengths of
light, increase the number of wavelengths of light that can travel on fiber optic networks, and extend the distance
an optical signal can trave] without electrical regeneration, a process which adds expense and complexity to
network transmission systems. Our photonic processor solutions perform optical signal processing and influence
systems architecture. Our photonic processor solutions include discrete devices, modules or sub-systems with
built-in optical processing algorithms.

In May 2003, we entered into a Share Acquisition and Asset Purchase Agreement with Alcatel and Corning
Incorporated. Pursuant to the purchase agreement, in July 2003, we acquired all of the outstanding equity of
Alcatel Optronics France SA, a subsidiary of Alcatel that operated the optical components business of Alcatel,
and Alcatel assigned and licensed certain intellectual property rights to us. We also entered into a supply
agreement with Alcatel whereby Alcatel agreed to purchase seventy percent (70%) of its requirements for certain
qualified products from us for a period of three years, subject to certain requirements. In addition, we acquired
certain assets of the optical components business of Corning, and Corning assigned and licensed certain
intellectual property rights to us. As a result of these acquisitions we acquired approximately 1,117 employees
and manufacturing operations located in Nozay, France; San Donato, Italy; Livingston, UK; and Erwin Park,
New York. Pursuant to the purchase agreement, we issued shares of our common stock to Alcatel and to Corning
representing 28% and 17%, respectively, of the outstanding shares of our common stock on a post-transaction
basis. In August 2003, we entered into an agreement to acquire certain assets of Vitesse Semiconductor
Corporation’s Optical Systems Division located in San Jose, California. Pursuant to the agreement, in
August 2003 we acquired substantially all of the assets of Vitesse’s Optical Systems Division in exchange for
approximately 1.2 million shares of our common-stock. This acquisition enhanced our presence in transponders
and expanded our product offerings in subsystem products. In February 2004 we entered into a share acquisition
agreement with Gemfire Corporation pursuant to which Gemfire acquired our silica planar lightwave circuit
(“PLC”) product line manufactured in Livingston, Scotland. Our continuing operations include the results of our
Fiber Bragg Grating (“FBG”) product line, not included in the transaction, which were transferred to our Nozay,
France location.



We were incorporated in October 1997 as a California corporation, and in January 2000, were
reincorporated as a Delaware corporation. Our principal executive office is located at 40919 Encyclopedia Circle,
Fremont, CA 94538. Our telephone number is 510-897-4188, and our Internet home page is located at
www.avanex.com; however, the information on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of this
Annual Report. Cur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K,
and amendments to such reports are available, free of charge, through our Internet website as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC.

Avanex and the Avanex logo are registered trademarks of Avanex Corporation. This Annual Report on
Form 10-K also includes other trade names, trademarks and service marks of us and other companies.

Industry

In response to growing bandwidth demand and a desire to decrease system costs, telecommunications
service providers are deploying new or upgraded communications networks. Among other things,
telecommunications service providers are upgrading the transport medium from copper-based electrical
transmission to fiber-based optical transmission. Because of its inherent superiority in capacity, signal quality,
and transmission speed, optical transmission has become the preferred medium of voice, video and data
communication.

Optical transmission technology transfers voice, data and video in the form of light signals along optical
fibers. Optical systems convert electrical signals into specific wavelengths of laser-generated light. The light
signals transmit through glass fibers, which are bundled to create fiber optic cable. Beyond lasers, many other
optical components and subsystems are utilized within optical networks to generate, clean, amplify, isolate,
channel, or otherwise enhance the signal.

The telecommunications industry experienced substantial growth during the late 1990s through 2000,
characterized by rapid and considerable expansion of fiber optic networks. Telecommunications service
providers purchased optical transport systems and related devices in anticipation of a continued rapid increase in
demand for bandwidth. In the past few years, there has been a significant reduction in spending for infrastructure
projects in the telecommunications industry. While bandwidth demand continues to increase, as evidenced by
growing demand for broadband access technologies, and increasing Internet usage, it has grown at a significantly
slower pace than previously anticipated. As a result, telecommunications service providers acquired excess
inventories of optical systems and devices that now create a barrier to new sales opportunities for certain
products.

This situation has created challenges for vendors in the optical communications industry. Due to decreased
unit shipments and the resulting competition for fewer opportunities, average selling prices have declined. In
order to support their preferred suppliers and reduce their supply chain complexity, buyers have begun to
consolidate their supply chains. These changes, coupled with the increasing difficulty of supporting operating
costs, have led to increased consolidation throughout the industry. Fewer companies now compete for a
significantly smaller market.

Over the past year, the optical components and subsystems industry has experienced a slight increase in
business levels. Recent orders for our products have been utilized both for upgrades of existing networks and
new network builds. In addition, certain large telecommunications service providers have recently disclosed that
they plan to deploy new broadband access networks based on fiber optic technologies for residential users. These
fiber-to-the-home networks (FTTH) significantly increase the capacity and expand the types of services that can
be utilized by residential users. It remains difficult, however, to predict the timing or extent of an industry
recovery and the potential impact to our business from these and any new deployment initiatives.




Products

Our product portfolio is organized into two product groups: Active Optical Solutions and Passive Optical
Solutions. These product groups consist of six solution categories: Transmission, Amplification, and Network
Managed Subsystems, which are Active Optical Solutions, and Multiplexing and Signal Processing, Dispersion
Compensation, and Switching and Routing, which are Passive Optical Solutions. Within each of these solution
categories, we have numerous products to address the needs of 6iir customers.

Active Optical Solutions

Transmission. The Transmission family includes products that transmit and receive signals, including laser
diodes, avalanche photo detectors and photodiodes with or without integrated transimpedance amplifiers,
modulators, transponders, transmitters and receivers.

Amplification. The Amplification family includes products that optically amplify signals. These include
pump lasers, pump beam stabilizers, gain flattening filters, dynamic gain equalizers, erbium doped fiber
amplifiers, Raman amplifiers, and semiconductor optical amplifiers.

Network Managed Subsystems. The Network Managed Subsystems family includes products that interface
directly with other network elements using network level protocols. These products include network-managed
versions of our multiplexing, amplification, and switching and routing products.

Passive Optical Solutions

Multiplexing and Signal Processing. The Multiplexing and Signal Processing family includes products that
add and drop optical wavelengths to a signal without reconversion to an electrical signal, or wavelength division
multiplexing, including products based on thin film filter, fiber Bragg grating, or FBG, planar and interleaver
technologies.

Dispersion Compensation. The Dispersion Compensation family includes products that compensate for
dispersion and dispersion slope in transmission systems. This includes fixed and tunable products based on
dispersion compensating fiber, cascaded Giles Tourneau etalon, and FBG.

Switching and Routing. The Switching and Routing family includes products that provision wavelengths at
intermediate nodes in a transmission system. This includes fixed optical add/drop multiplexing, or OADM,
products based on thin film filter, FBG, planar and interleaver technology, dynamic products combining variable
optical attenuators and detectors, and reconfigurable products for reconfigurable OADM including our
wavelength blocker and routing products based on liquid crystal and planar technologies.

Competition

The optical communications transport markets are new and rapidly evolving. We expect these markets to
continue to be highly competitive in the future.

We believe that our principal competitors in the optical systems and components industry include Bookham
Technology, DiCon Fiberoptics, Eudyna, Finisar, Fujitsu, Hitachi Cable, JDS Uniphase, NEC, Oplink
Communications, Opnext and Triquint Semiconductor. We differentiate ourselves from our competitors by
offering higher levels of customer value through cost-effective collaborative system design, technology
innovation, superior optical/mechanical performance, and higher-orders of integration and customization. We
believe the principal competitive factors upon which we compete with our competitors include selling price,
breadth of product line, availability, performance, product reliability and innovation. We believe that we compete
favorably with our competitors with respect to the foregoing factors. However, we cannot assure you that we will
be able to compete successfully against either current or future competitors.
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Consolidation in the optical systems and components industry could intensify the competitive pressures that
we face. For example, three of our historical competitors, JDS Uniphase, SDL, and E-Tek Dynamics have
merged over the past several years to become a single, larger competitor. More recently, Bookham Technology
acquired the optical components business of Nortel and Marconi and has since become a stronger competitor, and
Finisar has announced that it has entered into an agreement to acquire the fiber optics business of Infineon
Technologies.

We may also face competition from companies that may expand into our industry in the future and
introduce additional competitive products. Existing and potential customers are also our potential competitors.
These customers may develop or acquire additional competitive products or technologies in the future, which
may cause them to reduce or cease their purchases from us. Please see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7, including “II. Market and Competitive Risks”.

Research and Development

We believe that research and development is critical to our strategic product development objectives. We
further believe that, in order to meet the changing requirements of our customers, we must continue to fund
investments in several development projects in parallel. Our research and development activities are focused on
developing new and enhanced passive and active optical components and integrated subsystem products, which
incorporate multiple optical functions, offer advanced control electronics and software, and provide network-
ready interfaces. To accomplish this, our research and development team possesses expertise in the areas of
passive and active optical components, micro-optic and integrated-optic design, as well as electronics, firmware,
and software. Most of our effort is directed toward the realization of products with near-term revenue potential,
but we do continue to invest in new technological platforms to ensure our continued competitiveness in the
future.

Our research and development expenses totaled $41.7 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, $16.2
million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003, and $24.1 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002. The
increase in spending from fiscal year 2003 to fiscal year 2004 is primarily attributable to the expanded activities
resulting from our acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse during
fiscal 2004. There was an increase in R&D spending between the first and second quarters of fiscal year 2004
because the impact of our newly acquired businesses did not coincide with the beginning of the first quarter.
Over the course of fiscal year 2004 (excluding the first quarter) we have reduced R&D expenditures by taking
advantage of internal consolidation opportunities presented by our acquisitions and better aligning our resources
with the available market opportunities. As of June 30, 2004, we employed 226 people in our research and
development groups in Fremont, California; Erwin Park, New York; Nozay, France; and San Donato, Italy.

During fiscal year 2004, we saw an increase in the number of customers purchasing integrated subsystem
products as well as an increase in the complexity of such products with existing customers. We continue to invest
in such products, as we believe applications for these types of products are important to our customers. For risks
associated with our research and development efforts, please see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ in Item 7, including “IV. Operations and Research and
Development Risks™.

Sales and Marketing

We primarily market our products to telecommunications system integrators and their network carrier
customers. Our marketing efforts are centered on demonstration of, and education about, our products’
performance at trade shows and through customer site visits, continued publicity through paid advertising, direct
mail and Internet-based communication and promotion. We sell and market our products through a combination
of direct sales, distributors and representatives.




As of June 30, 2004, our direct sales organization consisted of seventeen sales account managers in the
United States, Europe and Asia supported by application engineers and product line managers. We focus our
direct sales efforts on service providers and telecommunications systems manufacturers. The direct sales account
managers cover the market on an assigned-account basis-and work as a team with systems engineers and product
line managers. As of June 30, 2004 our direct sales organization consisted of §2 people.

In order to further our international sales objectives, we have established relationships with one distributor
in Europe and three distributors in Japan. Additionally, we have relationships with supplier manufacturer
representatives, one in China and one in Korea, three sales representatives in North America and one sales
representative in Israel. These distributors and representatives have expertise in distributing complex
telecommunications equipment in their markets and provide basic support required by our customers. We believe
that these support services are essential to developing and maintaining long-term relationships with our
customers. We deliver these services directly to major customers and indirectly through our distributors and
representatives.

While we have diversified our customer base, we expect that a substantial proportion of our sales will
continue to be concentrated with a limited number of customers. During fiscal year 2004, Alcatel, Cisco Systems
and Ciena Corporation (including sales to their contract manufacturers) each accounted for greater than 10% of
our net revenue, and combined accounted for 61% of our fiscal year 2004 net revenue. During fiscal year 2003,
Cisco Systems (including sales to its contract manufacturers), and Sorrento Networks (acquired by Zhone
Technologies in 2004) each accounted for greater than 10% of our net revenue, and combined accounted for 69%
of our fiscal year 2003 net revenue.

A summary of our financial information by geographic location is found in Note 15 in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements,

Backlog

Backlog consists of written purchase orders for products which have shipment dates within the following
12 months. As of June 30, 2004, our backlog was approximately $25.2 million as compared to $3.2 million at
June 30, 2003. This increase is primarily attributable to increased sales volume associated with our acquisitions
of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning. Orders in backlog are firm, but are subject to
customers’ cancellation or rescheduling. Because of possible changes in product delivery schedules and
cancellation of product orders, and because our sales will often reflect orders shipped in the same quarter in
which they are received, our backlog at any particular date is not necessarily indicative of actual sales for any
succeeding period. As a result of the current economic uncertainty, our ability to translate our backlog into sales
has been and is likely to continue to be adversely affected by order cancellation and rescheduling. Consequently,
during this period of industry uncertainty, we caution that our announced backlog may not be a reliable indicator
of future sales or the level of future orders.

Manufacturing

During fiscal year 2004, we performed optical sub-assembly, final integration, and shipped our products
from both contract manufacturers and our own facilities in Fremont, California; Erwin Park, New York;
Livingston, Scotland; Nozay, France and San Donato, Italy. We no longer manufacture products in our former
facility in Scotland following its sale to Gemfire Corporation. Our in-house manufacturing capabilities included
product design, optical assembly, optical, mechanical, and electronic integration of final products, and thorough
testing of all final components, sub-assemblies and products. We continue to operate our wafer fabrication plants
in Nozay, France and San Donato, Italy producing chips for a variety of products such as lasers, detectors, pump
lasers and modulators. ‘

The manufacturing of photonic solutions requires the use of a highly skilled workforce performing critical
functions such as optical assembly, optical alignment, soldering, component integration and testing. During fiscal
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year 2004, we continued to focus our resources on maintaining the quality of our workforce, and improving cycle
time, data collection, and production yields. In order to lower our labor costs, expand our capacity and increase
our flexibility in manufacturing, during fiscal year 2004 we utilized the services of contract manufacturers, both
in China and Thailand, to manufacture a portion of our products for us. Although we are aggressively pursuing
our manufacturing strategy to outsource many of our high volume key components and products, outsourced
manufacturing requires considerable attention of management and is expensive to implement. We still retain the
expertise to manage an interruption in supply from these external sources for the majority of our products. In the
future, we plan to manufacture increasingly greater proportions of our products through contract manufacturers.

The downturn in the fiber optics market has greatly increased available capacity at our suppliers and in
many cases has reduced lead times. However, we currently purchase several key components used in our
products and equipment from single or limited sources of supply, including Browave; Corning, Fabrinet,

JDS Uniphase, Koncent, and Lightconnect. These key components include lasers, variable optical attenuators,
thin film filters, gain flattening filters, and optical fiber. We have limited supply arrangements with some of these
suppliers and we typically purchase our components and equipment through purchase orders. For risks associated
with our manufacturing strategy, please see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” in Item 7, including “IV. Operations and Research and Development Risks”.

Quality

Our quality policy reinforces our commitment to deliver industry-leading products, on-time, that meet or
exceed customer expectations. This policy is based on the mission and values of Avanex as a leading supplier to
the industry, and is implemented and communicated throughout the organization, beginning with senior
management. We have established a quality assurance system to continuously improve our ability to ensure that
our customers’ requirements are consistently met, in compliance with the International Standard ISO 9001: 2000
as certified by Det Norske Veritas, a leading international registrar to the ISO standards.

Our quality assurance system also covers product reliability, assuring functional performance throughout
and beyond the expected useful life of the product. Our product reliability policy forms a framework for product
design and development, which is based on national and international standards for qualification, safety,
compatibility, reliability and regulatory compliance.

Our quality assurance system extends to include suppliers and partners throughout the value chain of the
manufacturing and order fulfillment process. Our supplier quality system assures materials and product quality
through stringent supplier and product qualification. We also maintain strict internal quality control processes
and procedures, including incoming material inspection, in-process testing and outgoing quality assurance.

All of our sites are currently certified or registered to ISO 9001 standards. We will continue to refine our
quality processes to ensure that we maintain our high standards of product quality and customer satisfaction and
adhere to our mission and values.

Patents and Intellectual Property

As of June 30, 2004, we held approximately 482 U.S. patents and approximately 897 foreign patents (issued
and pending). We are reviewing our patent portfolio and identifying patents that are no longer relevant to our
business, which we may abandon, sell, or license. Our intellectual property also includes trade secrets,
trademarks, and copyrights. We do not expect to maintain or enhance our market position primarily through the
exercise of our intellectual property rights because the rapid evolution of technology and the wide distribution of
patents in our industry preclude such market positioning through intellectual property. We will pursue
opportunities to license intellectual property if we believe we can be adequately compensated or if there is the
potential for a beneficial cross-license agreement.




Our material patents cover a broad range of photonics and optical communications products and
technologies. These technologies are incorporated into our products.and are covered by patents that expire
between June 2018 and August 2022.

Our engineering teams have significant expertise in photonic, micro-dptic and systems-level design and
manufacturing. While we rely on patent, copyright, trade secret and trademark law to protect our technology, we
also believe that factors such as the technological and creative skills of our personnel, new product
developments, frequent product enhancements and reliable product maintenance are essential to establishing and
maintaining a technology leadership position.

We generally enter into confidentiality or license agreements with our employees, consultants and corporate
partners, and generally control access to and distribution of our proprietary information.

In addition, we have been granted licenses to use other intellectual property, including patents, of Alcatel,
Corning and various other third parties. For risks associated with our patents and intellectual property, please see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of Operations” in Item 7, including
“V. Intellectual Property and Litigation Risks”.

Employees

As of June 30, 2004, we employed 963 people, ‘including 543 in manufacturing, 226 in research and v
development, 82 in sales and marketing, and 112 in general and administrative capacities. These employees are
primarily located in California, New York, France and Italy. '

As of June 30, 2004, approximately 500 of our employees worldwide were represented by labor unions or
labor organizations. Approximately 100 employees located in New York are represented by the American Flint-
Glass Workers Union AFL-CIO, including Local Union No. 1000, and approximately 400 of our employees
located in Europe are represented by labor organizations.

We have not experienced any work stoppages, and we consider our relations with our employees to be good.
Our future success also depends on our continuing ability to attract, train and retain highly qualified technical,
sales and managerial personnel.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease two buildings that total approximately 145,000 square feet, in Fremont, California. One building,
which we occupy, is approximately 54,000 square feet of office, research and development and manufacturing
space, and serves as our corporate headquarters. A second building, which we do not occupy, is approximately
91,000 square feet and is substantially available for sublease. These leases expire on August 31, 2019 and
March 31, 2010, respectively.

We also lease approximately 110,000 square feet of additional space in two buildings in Newark, California.
One building is approximately 48,000 square feet and the second building is approximately 62,000 square feet.
The lease on these two buildings expires on November 30, 2010. We do not currently occupy these buildings,
and we are attempting to sublease them. During fiscal 2004, we restructured and reduced the related lease
obligation on these leases, and terminated a lease for approximately 44,000 square feet of space in one building
in Richardson, Texas.

In addition to our facilities in California, we also lease properties consisting of approximately 202,000
square feet in Nozay, France; 171,000 square feet in San Donato, Italy; and 279,000 square feet in Erwin Park,
New York. These leases expire on July 31, 2012, December 31, 2008, and July 31, 2005, respectively.



We believe that existing facilities are adequate for our needs. We are currenily evaluating the most
appropriate use of our existing facilities and the possibility of subleasing a portion of our space to third parties.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings that arise from the normal course of business
activities. In addition, from time to time, third parties assert patent or trademark infringement claims against us in
the form of letters and other forms of communication. We do not believe that any of these legal proceedings or
claims are likely to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations, financial condition or
cash flows.

On August 6, 2001, Avanex, certain of its officers and directors, and various underwriters in its initial public
offering (“IPO”) were named as defendants in a class action filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York, captioned Beveridge v. Avanex Corporation et al., Civil Action No. 01-CV-7256.
This action and other subsequently filed substantially similar class actions have been consolidated into In re
Avanex Corp. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 01 Civ. 6890. The consolidated
amended complaint in the action generally alleges that various investment bank underwriters engaged in
improper and undisclosed activities related to the allocation of shares in Avanex’s IPO. Plaintiffs have brought
claims for violation of several provisions of the federal securities laws against those underwriters, and also
against Avanex and certain of its directors and officers, seeking unspecified damages on behalf of a purported
class of purchasers of Avanex’s common stock between February 3, 2000, and December 6, 2000. Various
plaintiffs have filed similar actions asserting virtually identical allegations against more than 40 investment
banks and 250 other companies. All of these “IPO allocation” securities class actions currently pending in the
Southern District of New York have been assigned to Judge Shira A. Scheindlin for coordinated pretrial
proceedings as In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92. On October 9, 2002, the claims
against Avanex’s directors and officers were dismissed without prejudice pursuant to a tolling agreement. The
issuer defendants filed a coordinated motion to dismiss all common pleading issues, which the Court granted in
part and denied in part in an order dated February 19, 2003. The Court’s order did not dismiss the Section 10(b)
or Section 11 claims against Avanex. A stipulation of settlement for the claims against the issuer defendants,
including Avanex, has been submitted to the court. The settlement is subject to a number of conditions, including
approval of the court. If the settlement does not occur, and litigation against Avanex continues, Avanex believes
it has meritorious defenses and intends to defend the action vigorously. Nevertheless, an unfavorable result in
litigation may result in substantial costs and may divert management’s attention and resources, which could
seriously harm our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.




ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

The;e were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of our 2004 fiscal
year.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Our executive officers as of August 31, 2004 are as follows:

Name Age Position

Walter Alessandrini ... ... 57 Chairman of the Board of Directors

Jo S.Major, Jr. ......... 42 President and Chief Executive Officer

Linda Reddick .. ........ 49  Chief Financial Officer

Giovanni Barbarossa . . . . . 43  Chief Technology Officer and Vice President, Product Development

Anthony Florence ....... 61 Vice President, Corporate Affairs ‘

Paul Negus .......:.... 49 Vice President, Operations

Brian Kinard .......... . 40 Chief Governance Officer, General Counsel and Vice President,
] Legal Affairs :

JaimeReloj ............ * 37 Vice President, Sales '

Mark Weinswig ......... 31 Vice President, Business Development and Investor Relations

DouglasHall ........... 51 Vice President, Optical Line Modules

David Parker ........... 42 Vice President, Subsystems Solutions

Adriano Zuccala ........ 50  Vice President, Active Components

Roger Hajjar ........... 38 Vice President, Optical Interfaces

Walter Alessandrini has served as one of our directors since March 1999, as Chairman of the Board of
Directors since September 2000 and as Chairman since July 2001. He also served as our President and
Chief Executive Officer from November 2002 until August 2004. He previously served as our Chief Executive
Officer from March 1999 through June 2001 and as our President from March 1999 until September 2000.
Dr. Alessandrini was President and Chief Executive Officer of Pirelli Cables and Systems North America LLC, a
manufacturer of cables and communications systems, from November 1996 to March 1999. Dr. Alessandrini
received a doctorate degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Genoa, Italy.

Jo 8. Major, Jr. has served on our Board of Directors and as our President and Chief Executive Officer since
August 2004, From February 2001 to August 2004, he served in various management roles in the Active
Components Group of JDS Uniphase, an optical technology company, including Senior Vice President,
Component Products Group, and Vice President, Active Components Business Unit. Dr. Major was employed by
SDL, Inc. in a variety of technical managerial positions from 1990 to February 2001, when SDL was acquired by
JDS Uniphase. Dr..Major holds a B.S., with high honors, M.S. and Ph.D. from the University of [llinois, and has
been granted industry awards for the development of 980nm lasers, high powered, near-infrared lasers, Raman
amplifiers and high performance laser packaging. Dr. Major was an Intel Fellow from 1988 to 1990.

Linda Reddick has served as our Chief Financial Officer since November 2003. Ms. Reddick served as our
Corporate Controller from February 2003 to November 2003. She held the position of Vice President and
Controller of Oplink Communications, Inc., an optical technology company, from March 2001 to February 2003
and Corporate Controller from September 2000 to March 2001. From 1993 to September 2000, Ms. Reddick held
various positions including Vice President of Finance of Symmetricom Inc.’s semiconductor subsidiary, and
Corporate Controller of Symmetricom, Inc., a telecommunications company. Ms. Reddick has extensive
experience in financial management with other high technology companies, as well as eight years of experience
in public accounting. She is a Certified Public Accountant and graduated from San Jose State University with a
bachelor of science degree in business.



Giovanni Barbarossa has served as our Chief Technology Officer and Vice President, Product Development
since May 2002. Dr. Barbarossa served as Vice President of Product Development from May 2001 to May 2002.
Prior to being promoted to Vice President of Product Development, Dr. Barbarossa was Director of Research and
Development from February 2000 until May 2001. From 1999 to February 2000, Dr. Barbarossa served as a
Project Manager in the Optical Networking Division of Agilent Technologies, a communications infrastructure
company. Dr. Barbarossa held various positions, including Team Leader in Product Development, in the Optical
Application Specific Integrated Circuits Department of Lucent Technologies, a developer and manufacturer of
communications products, from 1995 through 1999. Dr. Barbarossa received his Ph.D. degree in Electronics
Engineering from the University of Glasgow, U.K. and a B.S. degree in Electrical Engineering from the
University of Bari, Italy.

Anthony Florence has served as an officer of Avanex since October 2002. He has been Vice President,
Corporate Affairs since August 2003 and had previously served as Vice President, Corporate Affairs and
Chief Governance Officer from January 2003 to May 2004; as Vice President, Corporate Marketing, Governance
and Legal Affairs from October 2002 to January 2003; as a consultant from October 2001 to October 2002; as
Vice President, Corporate Marketing and External Relations from July 2001 to October 2001 and as
Vice President, Corporate Marketing and External Relations from November 1999 to July 2001. Mr. Florence
was Vice President, Corporate and Investor Relations, and Office of the Chairman at Ansaldo Signal N.V., a
company involved in the global signaling, automation and control systems industry, from November 1996 to
November 1999. Mr. Florence received a B.A. degree in English from Wheeling College and an M.A. degree in
English from the University of Dayton.

Paul Negus has served as our Vice President, Operations since October 2002. From September 2001 to
June 2002, Mr. Negus was General Manager of Clerios Inc., a high performance EDFA amplifier company,
which was acquired by Lightbit Corporation in June 2002. Mr. Negus served as Vice President Operations with
Tripath Technology, Inc., which designs amplifiers for the communications markets, from April 1999 to
September 2001. Mr. Negus served as Vice President Operations with Ridge Technologies Inc. from May 1998
to April 1999. Mr. Negus graduated from the Royal School of Military Engineering and the Royal Military
Academy Sandhurst.

Brian Kinard rejoined Avanex in May 2004 and serves as our Chief Governance Officer, General Counsel
and Vice President, Legal Affairs. He previously worked with Avanex from August 1999 to May 2001 and
served as an outside legal consultant to Avanex during certain periods in the interim. During his earlier tenure
with Avanex, Mr. Kinard was Vice President of Business Development and General Counsel. Immediately
before rejoining Avanex, Mr. Kinard was President, CEO and General Counsel for PowerGenix Systems, Inc. a
private company developing advanced portable energy solutions for the high-data-rate and telecommunications
industries. He previously was a partner with Blueprint Ventures, which focuses on early-stage communications
investments. Mr. Kinard initially joined Avanex from the law firm of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati in Palo
Alto, California, where he specialized in high technology, securities and mergers and acquisitions. Before
beginning his legal career, Mr. Kinard was with Alcatel Network Systems as an electrical engineer. Mr. Kinard
holds a degree from Harvard University Law School and undergraduate and graduate degrees in electrical
engineering from Texas A&M University.

Jaime Reloj has served as Vice President, Sales since October 2002 and had previously served as Director of
Product Management since May 2000 and Director of Sales, West Region since January 2000. Prior to joining
Avanex, Mr. Reloj was Sales Manager with Fujitsu Business Communications Systems, a telecommunications
company, from November 1996 to January 2000. Mr. Reloj has a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
from the University of San Francisco. :

Mark Weinswig has served as Vice President, Business Development and Investor Relations since
September 2003 and had previously served as Director, Strategic Projects and Investor Relations since

May 2000. Prior to joining Avanex, Mr. Weinswig was an analyst from May 1998 to May 2000 with Morgan
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Stanley Dean Witters’ Institutional Equity Research Group where he focused on the telecommunications
equipment industry. Mr. Weinswig is a Certified Public Accountant, has the Certified Financial. Analyst
designation and received a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from Indiana University.

Douglas Hall has served as Vice President, Optical Line Modules since June 2004 and had previously
served as Vice President, Erwin Park and Senior Director, Product Development from July 2003 to April 2004.
Prior to joining Avanex, Dr. Hall served as Technology Director for the Photonics Technologies Division of
Corning Incorporated, a technology company, from November 1998 to July 2003. Dr. Hall has held various other
positions at Corningsince 1983. Dr. Hall received his bachelor’s degree in Physics from Occidental College, and
he received his Ph.D. from the University of California, Davis.

David Parker has served as Vice President, Subsystems Solutions since June 2004 and had previously
served as Vice President, Product Marketing from November 2003 to June 2004; as Vice President, Avanex
Fremont and Sr. Director, Product Development from August 2003 to November 2003; as Director of Project
Management from September 2001 to August 2003; as Sr. Manager, Engineering Services from October 1999 to
September 2001; and as Sr. Product Manager from May 1999 to October 1999. Prior to joining Avanex, Mr.
Parker was employed at Electroglas, a manufacturer of wafer probers. Mr. Parker received his bachelor’s degree
in Physics and English from Williams College and also completed graduate studies in Electrical Engineering and
Engineering Management at Stanford University.

Adriano Zuccala has served as Vice President, Active Components since June 2004 and had previously
served as Vice President, Avanex San Donato. Prior to joining Avanex, Dr. Zuccala served as Managing Director
and Chief Executive Officer of Corning OT], a fiber optics subsidiary of Corning, Incorporated., from December
2000 to July 2003. Dr. Zuccala served as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Pirelli Componenti
Ottici, an optical components company, from February 2000 to December 2000. Dr. Zuccala served as Director
for Research and Development for photonic technologies and components in Pirelli Cables and Systems from
1994 to January 2000. Dr. Zuccala received a doctorate degree in Industrial Chemistry at Milan University, Italy.

Roger Hajjar has served as Vice President, Optical Interfaces since April 2004 and had previously served as
Senior Director of Transmission Subsystems Development from August 2003 to April 2004. Prior to joining
Avanex, Dr. Hajjar was Chief Technology Officer of the Optical System Division of Vitesse Corporation, a
semiconductor company, from June 2001 to August 2003. Dr. Hajjar was Chief Technology Officer and
co-founder of Versatile Optical Networks, a fiber optics subsystems company, from May 2000 to May 2001,
prior to its acquisition by Vitesse. Before co-founding Versatile Optical Networks, Dr. Hajjar held management
positions with TeraStor Corporation and the Eastman Kodak Company. Dr. Hajjar received a bachelor’s degree
of science in electrical engineering from Boston University, graduating Summa Cum Laude, and a master of
science and a doctorate in optical sciences from the University of Arizona.
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PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “AVNX.” The following
table shows, for the periods indicated, the high and low per share closing prices of common stock, as reported by
the Nasdaq National Market for each of the last eight quarters in the period ended June 30, 2004:

. _H_lgi Low

Fiscal year 2003 Quarters Ended: :

September 30,2002 . ... $2.60 $1.36
December 31,2002 . ..ottt $1.69 $0.66
March 31,2003 ... .. e e $1.33  $0.76
June 30, 2003 . ... e .. %448  $0.74
Fiscal year 2004 Quai’ters Ended:

September 30,2003 . ... ... .. $650 $3.34
December 31,2003 ...ttt Y8619 $3.87
March 31,2004 ..ot $7.40  $3.80
June 30, 2004 . . . ... e 3$4.80 $2.60

On September 7, 2004, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was
$2.35 per share. As of September 7, 2004, there were approximately 692 stockholders of record of our common
stock. Because brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders hold many of our shares of common
stock, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record holders.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any

future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash
dividends in the foreseeable future.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected consolidated financial data in conjunction with ‘“Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and the notes
thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The statement of operations data set forth below for the years ended
June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and the balance sheet data as of June 30, 2004 and 2003 are derived from, and are qualified
by reference to, our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The statement of
operations data set forth below for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 and the balance sheet data as of June 30, 2002,
2001 and 2000 are derived from audited financial statements not included in this Annual Report.

Year ended June 30,
2004 (2) 2003 2002 2001 2000
(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

NEUTEVEIMUEG . . oo oo ettt et et e e et e e e et e e $106932 $ 21,416 §$ 33,686 $ 131,244 $ 40,743
CoSt Of FEVEIIUE . . . oo ittt e e e e 133,228 30,035 27,789 110,794 26,343
Stock compensation eXpense (TECOVETY) .. ..ottt 31 (202) 166 8,764 2,732
Gross profit (loss) . ........oooieiil e PR (26,327) (8,417) 5,731 11,686 11,668
Operating expenses:
Researchand development .. ....... . ... . 41,744 16,170 24,076 37,856 15,587
Sales and marketing .. ... ... L 19,434 6,120 6,657 15,493 6,047
General and adminiStratiVe . . ... oottt it e e e 24,139 9,033 8,043 11,862 5,702
Stock compensation expense (recovery) (1) ... ... o oo ’ 844 - (107) 16,482 41,589 28,688
Acquired in-process research and development .. ............ .. ... - — 5,445 4,700 —_—
Amortization of intangibles ...................... e 4,573 200 10,502 9,653 —
Reduction in long-lived assets . ...t — 1,548 = — — —
Restructuring Charges ... ...o. vttt e e e e 3,779 22,438 16,656 22,586 —
Mergercosts ............... S 472 4,126 — — —_
Total operating expenses ......... e 94,985 59,528 87,861 143,739 56,024
Loss before the following . ... o (121,312)  (67,945) (82,130) (132,053) (44,356)
Interest and otherincome, net . ... o oottt e 3,299 2,533 4,353 12,521 5,671
Loss from continuing operations before discontinued operations and cumulative effect of )
an accounting Change .. .......... .ottt (118,013) © (65,412) (77,777) (119,532) (38,685)
Loss from discontinued operations . .. ............. . (6,054) —_—
Loss before cumulative effect of an accounting change . ....... e o (124,067)  (65412). (77,977) (119,532) (38,685)
Cumulative effect of an accounting change to adopt SFAS 142 ............... ... .. . = (37,500) — — —_
Netloss ..o e P {124,067) (102,912) (77,777) (119.532) (38,685)
Stockaccretion ... e — — — — (37,743)
Net foss attributable to common stockholders ................ L $(124,067) $(102,912) $(77,777) $(119,532) $(76,428)
Loss per share from continuing operations before disconti nued opef:;tions and cumulative o
effect of an accounting change—Basicand diluted ........ ... ... .. ... . . $  (0.90):% (O 96) $§ (1.21) $ (2 07§ (3.07)
Loss per share from discontinued operations—Basic and dlluted .................... $ (005 % $ -— 3 $ —
Loss per share before cumulative effect of an accounting change—Basic and diluted .... § (0.95) § (0 96) $ az2n s (2 07) $ (3.07)
Cumulative effect per share of an accounting change—Basic and diluted ......... .... $ — $ (055 — 8 —
Net loss per share—Basicand diluted ................ ... ... ... ... . . ... $ (095 % (1.5 $ az2n s @ 07) $ (3.07) .
Weighted average number of shares used in computmg basic and dlluted net loss per '
COMUMON SHAIE .+ oot ittt i e it e e e e e e e e 130,561 68,371 64,308 57,620 24,936

Pro forma amounts assuming the change in accounting principle was applied
retroactively (unaudited):

Adjusted net loss from continuing operations ........ e e .. $(118,013) $(102,912) $(67,755) $(110,319) $(76,428)
Basic and diluted adjusted net loss per common share from continuing operations ... ... $ 9% (AS5LHS (105 A9 s @BOoN
Balance Sheet Data: ‘
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments . . ... . : S e $ 89,090 $ 87,591 $136,085 $ 204,591 $184,321
Long-term investments . . ....................cvnui.on.. T $ 55145 $ 47,063 $ 40984 § 16,462 § 56,943
Working capital ........ .. ... . .. L e $ 83,804 $ 64,708 $118911 $ 174,653 $185,534
Total @Ssets .. ..ottt e [N <. $273494 $ 154,615 $250,397 $ 311,589 $278,141
Long-term liabilities, excluding current portion . . .......... .. o $ 26,556 $ 28,173 $ 23,054 $ 14992 $ 2,067
Total other stockholders’ equity (deficit) ............c. o i $ 157,464 $ 96,262 $197,998 §$ 245,354 $257,157
(1) Below is the allocation of stock compensation expense (recovery): . . .
Research and development . ....... ... e i e $ 363 §$ (107) $ 6,883 $ 32,216 $ 16,568
Salesand marketing ......... .. 374 (199) 88 745 4,058
General and adminiStrative . .. ... ..o e e 107 199 9,511 8,628 8,062

$ 844. §  (107) $ 16,482 $ 41,589 § 28,688

(2) We acquired Alcatel’s and Corning’s optical components businesses on July 31, 2003 in a transaction accounted for as a purchase. Additionally,
we acquired certain assets of Vitesse Semiconductor’s Optical Systems Division on August 28, 2003 in a transaction accounted for as a purchase.
The Consolidated Statement of Operations for fiscal year 2004 include the results of operations of the optical components businesses acquired
from Alcatel and Coming subsequent to July 31, 2003 and the optical systems business acquired from Vitesse subsequent to August 28, 2003.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations
together with “Selected Financial Data” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. The actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those
presented under “Factors Thar May Affect Future Results” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
For ease of reference, we refer to the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, June 30, 2003 and June 30, 2002 as
fiscal year 2004, fiscal year 2003 and fiscal year 2002, respectively.

Overview

We design, manufacture and market fiber optic-based products, known as photonic processors, which are
designed to increase the performance of optical networks. We sell our products to telecommunications system
integrators and their network carrier customers. We were founded in October 1997, and began making volume
shipments of our products during the quarter ended September 30, 1999.

The telecommunications industry has been in a significant period of consolidation following a dramatic
slowdown in equipment spending since late 2001. We acquired the optical components businesses of Alcatel and
Corning on July 31, 2003 in transactions accounted for as a purchase. Additionally, we acquired certain assets of
Vitesse Semiconductor’s Optical Systems Division on August 28, 2003 in a transaction accounted for as a
purchase. The Consolidated Statements of Operations for fiscal year 2004 include the results of operations of the
optical components businesses acquired from Alcatel and Corning subsequent to July 31, 2003 and the optical
systems business acquired from Vitesse subsequent to August 28, 2003,

Our consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2004 also account for the sale of our planar lightwave
circuit unit in Livingston, Scotland as a discontinued operation under generally accepted accounting principles
(“*GAAP”) as a result of our disposition of the business in February 2004. Our Consolidated Statements of
Operations have been reformatted for fiscal year 2004 to separate the results of the discontinued operation from
the results of our continuing operations. This presentation is required by GAAP and facilitates historical and
future trend analysis of our continuing operations. Unless otherwise indicated, the following discussion relates to
our continuing operations. ’

Like many of our competitors, we continue to be adversely affected by the downturn in the telecommunications
industry, and restructuring and cost-cutting measures are of primary focus, Over the past several years, we have
implemented various restructuring programs to realign resources in response to the changes in the industry and
customer demand. Additionally, we assumed restructuring liabilities with fair values of $66.8 million at the date of
acquisition through the acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning, which were included
in the purchase price. The restructurings have resuited in, among other things, a significant reduction in the size of our
workforce, consolidation of our facilities and increased reliance on outsourced, third-party manufacturing.
Additionally, we sold our acquired planar lightwave circuit unit located in Livingston, Scotland and accounted for it as
a discontinued operation. We anticipate that we may initiate future restructuring actions, which are likely to result in
charges that could have a material effect on our results of operations or financial position.

As aresult of our acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning, our costs and
operating expenses were significantly higher in fiscal year 2004 compared to fiscal year 2003. The combined
operations of Avanex and the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning substantially increased the
rate at which we utilized our cash resources.

Revenues. The market for photonic processors is new and evolving and the volume and timing of orders is
difficult to predict. A customer’s decision to purchase our products typically involves a commitment of its
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resources and a lengthy evaluation and product qualification process. This initial evaluation and product
qualification process typically takes several months and includes technical evaluation, integration, testing,
planning and implementation into the equipment design. Implementation cycles for our products, and the practice
of customers in the communications industry to sporadically place orders with short lead times, may cause our
revenues, gross margins, operating results and the identity of our largest customers to vary significantly and
unexpectedly from quarter to quarter.-

To date, revenues have been principally derived from the sales of our product portfolio, which was
significantly enhanced by the acquisitions of the optical component businesses of Alcatel and Corning. Revenues
from our two product groups, Active Optical Solutions and Passive Optical Solutions, accounted for 65% and
35%, 16% and 84%, and 8% and 92% of net revenues in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. A
summary of our revenues and other financial information by geographic location is found in Note 15 to Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. '

To date, a substantial proportion of our sales has been concentrated: with a limited number of customers.
During fiscal year 2004, Alcatel, Cisco Systems and Ciena Corporation (including sales to their contract
manufacturers) each accounted for greater than 10% of our net revenue, and combined accounted for 61% of our
fiscal year 2004 net revenue. During fiscal year 2003, Cisco Systers (including sales to its contract
manufacturers), and Sorrento Networks (acquired by Zhone Technologies in 2004) each accounted for greater
than 10% of our net revenue, and combined accounted for 69% of our fiscal year 2003 net revenue. As a result of
the acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning, we have substantially diversified
our customer base, although we expect that a substantial portion of our sales will remain concentrated with a
limited number of customers.

Cost of Revenue. Our cost of revenue consists of costs of components and raw materials, direct labor,
warranty, manufacturing overhead, payments to our contract manufacturers and inventory write-offs for obsolete
and excess inventory. We rely on a single or limited number of suppliers to manufacture some key components
and raw materials used in our products, and we rely on the outsourcing of some subassemblies.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and
related personnel costs, fees paid to consultants and outside service providers, costs of allocated facilities, non-
recurring engineering charges and prototype costs related to the design, development, testing, pre-manufacturing
and significant improvement of our products. We expense our research and development costs as they are
incurred. We believe that research and development is critical to our strategic product development objectives.
We further believe that, in order to meet the changing requirements of our customers, we must continue to fund
investments in several development projects in parallel.

 Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of marketing, sales,
customer service and application engineering support, allocated facilities, as well as costs associated with
promotional and other marketing expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and
related expenses for executive, finance, accounting, legal and human resources personnel, costs of allocated
facilities, recruiting expenses, professional fees and other corporate expenses.

Stock Compensation. In connection with the grant of stock options to employees prior to our initial public
offering and certain grants subsequent to our initial public offering, we recorded deferred stock compensation
representing the difference between the fair value of our common stock for accounting purposes and the exercise
price of these options at the date of grant. Moreover, in connection with the assumption of unvested stock options
previously granted to employees of companies we acquired, we recorded deferred compensation representing the
difference between the fair market value of our common stock on the date of closing of each acquisition and the
exercise price of options granted by those companies which we assumed. Deferred stock compensation is
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presented as a reduction of stockholders’ equity, with accelerated amortization net of recoveries recorded over
the vesting period, which is typically three to five years. The amount of deferred stock compensation expense to
be recorded in future periods could decrease if options for which accrued but unvested compensation has been
recorded are forfeited prior to vesting.

Acquired In-Process Research and Development. Acquired in-process research and development represents
the amount of purchase price allocated in a business combination related to research and development projects
underway at the company being acquired that have not reached the technologically feasible stage and have no
alternative future use.

Amortization of Intangible Assets. A portion of the purchase price in a business combination is allocated to
goodwill and intangibles. Prior to July 1, 2002 goodwill and purchased intangibles were amortized to expense
over their estimated useful lives. Subsequent to June 30, 2002, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
lives are no longer amortized but rather are subject to an annual impairment test. Intangible assets with definite
lives continue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives.

Reduction in Long-Lived Assets. Reduction in long-lived assets generally includes charges related to long-
lived assets such as fixed assets and intangibles when the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable from
estimated future cash flows.

Restructuring Charges. Restructuring charges generally include termination costs for employees and costs
for excess manufacturing equipment and facilities associated with formal restructuring plans.

Merger Costs. Merger costs include expenses incurred in connection with transactions that were not
completed.

Interest and Other Income. Interest and other income consists primarily of interest earned from the
investment of our cash. :

Interest and Other Expense. Interest and other expense consists primarily of interest expense associated with
borrowings under our line of credit, capital lease obligations and equipment loans.

‘Loss from Discontinued Operations. Loss from discontinued operations consists of the net loss from our
silica planar lightwave circuit (“PLC”) operation in Livingston, Scotland resulting from its acquisition by
Gemtfire Corporation.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures. We believe our estimates and assumptions are
reasonable; however, actual results and the timing of the recognition of such amounts could differ from these
estimates. We believe that the following are the critical accounting policies because they contain the more
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition. Our revenue recognition policy follows SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104,
“Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” and Emerging Issues Task Force Abstract 00-21, “Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”. Specifically, we recognize product revenue when persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists, the product has been shipped, title has transferred, collectibility is reasonably assured, fees
are fixed or determinable and there are no uncertainties with respect to customer acceptance. We record a provision
for estimated sales returns in the same period as the related revenues are recorded which is offset against revenue.
These estimates are based on historical sales returns, other known factors and our return policy. If future sales
returns differ from the historical data we use to calculate these estimates, changes to the provision may be required.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses
resulting from the failure of our customers to make required payments. When we become aware, subsequent to
delivery, of a customer’s potential inability to meet its payment obligations, we record a specific allowance for
doubtful accounts. For all other customers, we record an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the length of
time the receivables are past due. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. This may be magnified due
to the concentration of our sales to a limited number of customers.

Excess and Obsolete Inventory. We make inventory commitment and purchase decisions in part based upon
sales forecasts. To mitigate component supply constraints that have existed in the past and to fill orders with non-
standard configurations, we build inventory levels for certain items with long lead times and enter into short-term
commitments for certain items. We write off 100% of the cost of inventory that we specifically identify and
consider obsolete or excessive to fulfill future sales estimates. If we subsequently sell previously written-off
inventory, we recognize revenue with no related cost of sales. We define obsolete inventory as inventory that will
no longer be used in the manufacturing process. Excess inventory is generally defined as inventory in excess of
projected usage, and is determined using our best estimate of future demand at the time, based upon information
then available to us.

In estimating excess inventory, through fiscal year 2003, we used a three-month demand forecast. In fiscal
year 2004 we changed our demand forecast period in estimating excess inventory to use a range of six-month to
twelve-month demand forecast due to increasing visibility. We also consider: 1) parts and subassemblies that can
be used in alternative finished products, 2) parts and subassemblies that are unlikely to be engineered out of our
products, and 3) known design changes. which would reduce our ability to use the inventory as planned. If either
our demand forecast or estimate of future uses of inventory is inaccurate, we may need to make additional write-
offs of inventory in future periods or record additional benefits if we utilize previously written off inventory in
those future periods. '

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Including Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. We review long-lived
assets other than goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment whenever events or changes
in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable, such as a
significant industry downturn, significant decline in our market value, or significant reductions in projected
future cash flows. An impairment loss would be recognized when ‘estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount.
Impairment, if any, is assessed using discounted cash flows. In assessing the recoverability of long-lived assets
other than goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets we'must make assumptions regarding estimated future
cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of the respective assets. If circumstances arise that cause
these estimates or their related assumptions to change in the future we may be required to record additional
impairment charges for these assets.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS 142 prohibits the
amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. SFAS 142 requires that these assets be
reviewed for impairment at least annually. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 142, we amortized goodwill and other
intangible assets over estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

We adopted SFAS 142 on July 1, 2002. We reclassified assembled workforce net of related amortization of
$314,000 to goodwill as required by SFAS 142 at the date of adoption. SFAS 142 also requires that goodwill be
tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at adoption and at least annually thereafter, utilizing a two-step
methodology. The initial step requires us to determine the fair value of each reporting unit and compare it to the
carrying value, including goodwill, of such unit. We operate as one reporting unit. If the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value, no impairment loss would be recognized. However, if the carrying
value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the goodwill of this unit may be impaired. The amount, if any,
of the impairment would then be measured in the second step.
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In the first quarter of fiscal year 2003, we completed the required transitional impairment testing of
goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets. As a result of this testing, we have incurred a transitional
impairment charge of $37.5 million. This impairment charge is reflected as the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principles.

Warranties. We accrue for the estimated cost to provide warranty services at the time revenue is recognized.
Our estimate of costs to service our warranty obligations is based on historical experience and expectation of
future conditions. To the extent we experience increased warranty claim activity or increased costs associated
with servicing those claims, our warranty costs will increase resulting in decreases to gross profit.

Restructuring. We have recorded significant accruals in connection with our restructuring programs. These
accruals include estimates pertaining to employee separation costs and related abandonment of excess equipment
and facilities. In accordance with SFAS 146, costs associated with restructuring activities initiated after
December 31, 2002 have been recognized when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an
exit or disposal plan as was the criteria prior to December 31, 2002. Given the significance and complexity of
restructuring activities, and the timing of the execution of such activities, the restructuring accrual process
involves periodic reassessments of estimates made at the time the original decisions were made, including
evaluating real estate market conditions for expected vacancy periods and sub-lease rents. We continually
evaluate the adequacy of the remaining liabilities under our restructuring initiatives. Although we believe that
these estimates accurately reflect the costs of our restructuring programs, actual results may differ, thereby
requiring us to record additional provisions or reverse a portion of such provisions

Purchase Accounting. We account for business combinations under the purchase method of accounting and
accordingly, the acquired assets and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective fair values. The recorded
values of assets and liabilities are based on third-party estimates and valuations. The remaining values are based
on our judgments and estimates, and accordingly, our financial position or results of operations may be affected
by changes in these estimates and judgments.

Contingencies. We are or have been subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims related to our initial
public offering and other matters. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes
to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determinaticn of the amount of accrual required,
if any, for these contingencies is made after careful analysis of each individual issue and consultation with legal
counsel. The required accrual may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or changes in
approach such as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters, resulting in higher net loss.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of net revenue of certain items in our

Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Year ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002
Netrevenue ................. R e - 100% 100% 100%
Costofrevenue ............ P S 125% 140% 82%
Stock compensation eXpense (TECOVETY) .« ..ot vv vttt ettt e et e eenen . 0% -1% 0%
Gross profit (loss) ...... F P e 25% -39% 18%
Operating expenses: ‘
Research and development . .......... it i %% 6% T1%
Sales and marketing . ........... . ... .. e e 18% 29% 20%
General and administrative ............ ... 23%  42% 24%
Stock compensation eXpense (TECOVETY) . . .o v ittt ettt 1% 0% 49%
Acquired in-process research and development ............ ... ... ... ... 0% 0% 16%
Amortization of intangibles . .. ... .. .. L e 4% 1% 31%
Reduction in long-lived 8ssets ... ........uii it 0% 7% 0%
Restructuring Charges . ... .ottt et e e e 4% 105% 49%%
MErger CoStS ..o vt R 0% 19% 0%
. Total operating expenses . .. .. TS 89% 279% 260%
Loss before.the following ... ... ..t i e e -114% -318% -242%
Interest and otherincome, net ..., e 3% 11% 13%
Loss from continuing operations before discontinued operations and cumulative effect
of an accounting change ................. S -111% -307% -229%
Loss from discontinued Operations . ..............uiuirrir i -6% 0% 0%
Loss before cumulative effect of an accountingchange ............ ... ... ... ...... -117% -307% -229%
Cumulative effect of an accounting change to adopt SFAS 142 .................... 0% -175% 0%
Netloss ............ e e e e e e e -117% -229%

Net Revenue

-482%

Net revenue for fiscal year 2004 was $106.9 million, which represents an increase of $85.5 million, or

399%, from net revenue of $21.4 million for fiscal year 2003. This increase in net revenue was primarily due to
additional sales from our Active Optical Solutions products, which includes transmission, amplification and
network managed subsystems products, and increased sales to existing customers, coupled with an increased
customer base. This additional sales volume included $75.2 million of net revenue associated with our
acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning. The increase was offset by a decrease
in average selling prices due to increased competition. If declines in prices continue, our net revenue will be
adversely impacted. Net revenue for fiscal year 2003 was $21.4 million, which represents a decrease of $12.3
million, or 36%, from net revenue of $33.7 million for fiscal year 2002. This decrease in net revenue was
primarily due to the decrease of shipments to customers, reflecting reduced capital spending by
telecommunication carriers, as well as a decrease in average selling prices due to less demand and increased
competition.

During fiscal year 2004, Alcatel, Cisco Systems and Ciena Corporation (including sales to their contract
manufacturers) each accounted for greater than 10% of our net revenue, and combined accounted for 61% of net
revenue. During fiscal year 2003, Cisco Systems (including sales to its contract manufacturers), and Sorrento
Networks (acquired by Zhone Technologies in 2004) each accounted for greater than 10% of our net revenue,
and combined accounted for 69% of net revenue. Sales to our major customers vary significantly from year to
year and we do not have the ability to predict sales to these customers. '
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Net revenue from customers outside the United States accounted for $54.9 million, $3.8 million and $14.6
million of total net revenue, or 51%, 18% and 43%, for the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased to $133.2 million for fiscal year 2004 from $30.0 million for fiscal year 2003.
This increase was primarily due to costs of additional manufacturing facilities associated with our acquisitions of
the optical components businesses of Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse, which amounted to $94.2 million during
fiscal year 2004, We continue to experience negative gross margins due to underutilized manufacturing capacity
at our facilities. Cost of revenue increased to $30.0 million for fiscal 2003 from $27.8 million for fiscal 2002.
The increase in cost of revenue was primarily due to a change in the mix of products sold and underutilized
manufacturing capacity resulting from lower productions levels associated with lower sales.

We recorded a provision for excess and obsolete inventory of $1.0 million in fiscal year 2004 and $4.3
million in both fiscal year 2003 and fiscal year 2002. In fiscal year 2004 the provision was due to $1.0 million of
inventory that became obsolete as a result of decreased demand for our products. In fiscal year 2003 the
provision was due to $2.6 million of inventory that became obsolete due to a change in a customer’s product
specification and $1.7 million of excess inventory as a result of decreased demand for our products. We sold
inventory previously written-off with original cost totaling $1.2 million in fiscal year 2004, $4.3 million in fiscal
year 2003 and $5.4 million in fiscal year 2002 due to unforeseen demand for such inventory. The majority of this
inventory sold in each year had been written-off in a prior year. As a result, cost of revenue associated with the
sale of this inventory was zero. The selling price of the finished goods that included these components was
similar to the selling price of products that did not include components that were written-off. These items were
subsequently used and sold because customers ordered products that included these components in excess of our
estimates.

In addition, we had a reduction in cost of revenue of $0.7 million and $3.3 million in fiscal year 2004 and
2003, respectively, attributable to cost savings related to reductions in our workforce due to the restructurings
initiated in fiscal year 2004 and 2003. There were no restructurings initiated in fiscal year 2002. Cost of revenue
in fiscal year 2004, fiscal year 2003 and fiscal year 2002 also was offset $0.2 million, zero and $1.2 million,
respectively, for favorable settlements of non-cancelable purchase obligations, and $1.8 million, $1.7 million and
$1.7 million, respectively, for reductions of the warranty accrual.

Our gross margin percentage improved to negative 25% for fiscal year 2004 from negative 39% for fiscal
year 2003. The improvement is primarily due to a favorable product mix attributable to an increase in sales
volume of our long-haul product line, which includes certain inventory items with low product costs, and
reduction in provision of excess and obsolete inventory as noted above. Our gross margin percentage decreased
to negative 39% for fiscal 2003 from positive 18% for fiscal 2002. The decrease in gross margin percentage was
primarily due to underutilized manufacturing capacity resulting from declining sales.

Our gross margins are and will be primarily affected by changes in mix of products sold including inventory
items with low product costs, manufacturing volume, changes in market prices, product demand, inventory write-
offs, consumption of previously written-off inventory, warranty costs, and product yield. We expect cost of
revenue, as a percentage of net revenue, to fluctuate from period to period. In addition, we expect continued
pressure on our gross margin percentage as a result of underutilized manufacturing capacity and price
competition.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased $25.5 million to $41.7 million for fiscal year 2004 from
$16.2 miltion for fiscal year 2003. The increase was primarily attributable to costs associated with increased
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headcount, materials and facilities-related expenses resulting from the acquisitions of the optical components
business of Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse. As a percentage of revenue, research and development expenses
decreased to 39% for fiscal year 2004 from 76% in fiscal year 2003. We expect our quarterly research and
development expenses to decrease on a sequential basis from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 through the first
quarter of fiscal 2005. Despite our co_ntmued efforts to reduce expenses, there can be no assurance that our
research and development expenses will continue to decline in future quarters. In addition, there can be no
assurance that the research and development efforts will be successful or that 1mproved processes or commer01al
products, at acceptable pricing, will result from our investment in research and development.

Research and development expenses decreased $7.9 million to $16.2 million for fiscal 2003 from $24.1
million for fiscal 2002. The decrease was primarily attributable to cost savings related 10 reductions in our
workforce and to a lesser degree, to reduced material spending. As a percentage of revenue, research and
development expenses increased to 76% for fiscal 2003 from 71% in fiscal 2002.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased $13.3 million to $19.4 million for fiscal year 2004 from $6.1
million for fiscal year 2003. The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to increased
headcount and travel expenses resulting from the acquisitions of the optical components business of Alcatel,
Corning and Vitesse and higher commissions earned by our direct sales organization and external sales
representatives associated with increased revenues. Such expenditures increased to $15.4 million in fiscal year
2004 from $2.2 million in fiscal year 2003. As a percentage of revenue, sales and marketing expenses decreased
to 18% in fiscal year 2004 from 29% in fiscal year 2003. We expect our quarterly sales and marketing expenses
to slightly decrease on a sequential basis from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 ‘through the first quarter of fiscal
2005. There can be no assurance that our sales and marketing expense will continue to decline in the future or
that we will develop a cost structure (including sales and marketing), which will lead to profitability under
current and expected revenue levels.

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $0.6 million to $6.1 million for fiscal 2003 from $6.7 million for
fiscal 2002. The decrease was primarily attributable to cost savings related to reductions in our workforce. As a
percentage of revenue, sales and marketmg expenses increased to 29% in fiscal 2003 from 20% in fiscal 2002.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased $15.1 million to $24.1 million for fiscal year 2004 from $9.0
million for fiscal year 2003. The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily attributable to
$10 million related to our acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse and
includes costs associated with increased headcount and facilities related costs. As a percentage of revenue,
general and administrative expenses decreased to 23% in fiscal year 2004 from 42% in fiscal year 2003. We
expect our quarterly general and administrative expenses to decrease on a sequential basis from the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2004 through the first quarter of fiscal 2005. There can be no assurance that our general and
administrative expenses will continue to decline in the future or that we will develop a cost structure (including
general and administrative), which will lead to profitability under current and expected revenue levels.

General and administrative expenses increased $1.0 million to $9.0 million for fiscal 2003 from $8.0 million
for fiscal 2002. The increase was primarily attributable to $0.9 million in payments associated with the
termination of employment of former company executives and increased legal fees related to corporate matters.
As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expenses increased to 42% in fiscal 2003 from 24% in
fiscal 2002.
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Stock Compensation

Stock compensation increased $1.2 million to $0.9 million for fiscal year 2004 from a recovery of $0.3
million for fiscal year 2003. From inception through June 30, 2004, we have expensed a total of $102.6 million
of stock compensation, leaving an unamortized balance of $0.6 million on our June 30, 2004 balance sheet. The
increase in stock compensation expense was primarily attributable to the absence of a recovery of previously
amortized stock compensation relating to former executive officers and other terminated employees who left
Avanex during fiscal 2003 prior to the vesting of their options.

Stock compensation decreased $16.9 million to a recovery of $0.3 million for fiscal 2003 from an expense
of $16.6 million for fiscal 2002. The decrease in stock compensation was partially attributable to a recovery of
previously amortized stock compensation relating to former executive officers and other terminated employees
who left Avanex during fiscal 2003 prior to their options vesting. Additionally, the decrease was due to decreased
amortization of deferred stock compensation recognized for the intrinsic value of the unvested options assumed
in acquisitions. The deferred stock compensation for options assumed from acquisitions was recorded upon the
closing of the acquisition and is amortized over the remaining vesting period of the unvested options.

Acquired In-Process Research and Development

There was no expense for acquired in-process research and development, or IPR&D, in fiscal years 2004 or
2003. For fiscal year 2002, we recorded $5.4 million of acquired IPR&D resulting from the acquisition of
LambdaFlex. This amount was expensed on the acquisition date because the acquired technology had not yet
reached technological feasibility and had no future alternative uses. While we did not incur an expense for
IPR&D as a result of the acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse, there
can be no assurance that any future acquisitions of businesses, products or technologies will not result in
substantial charges for acquired IPR&D that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets increased $4.4 million to $4.6 million for fiscal year 2004 from $0.2
million for fiscal year 2003. The increase was due to the amortization of the intangible assets purchased in fiscal
year 2004 acquisitions. The balance of intangibles on our consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2004 was
$14.4 million arising from the acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse.
Amortization of intangibles decreased $10.3 million to $0.2 million for fiscal 2003 from $10.5 million for fiscal
2002. This decrease was due to the adoption of the non-amortization of goodwill provisions under SFAS 142
commencing July 1, 2002.

Reduction in Long-Lived Assets

During the quarter ended December 31, 2002, we committed to a plan to dispose of certain property,
equipment and intellectual property rights and entered into a non-binding letter of intent to sell such assets to a
group that included an employee of Avanex. The sale was completed on January 10, 2003. In accordance with
SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144), we were
required to measure these assets held for sale at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell
as of December 31, 2002. The reduction in long-lived assets was $1.5 million of which $0.2 million related to
property and equipment and $1.3 million related to intangibles.

Restructuring Charges

Over the past several years, we have implemented various restructuring programs to realign resources in
response to the changes in our industry and customer demand, and we continue to assess our current and future
operating requirements accordingly.
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During fiscal year 2004, we announced and implemented several restructuring programs throughout the
organization, primarily downsizing our workforce by approximately 450 employees in our manufacturing .
operations, resulting in net restructuring charges of $3.8 million.

During fiscal year 2003, we announced the closing of our facility in Richardson, Texas and the integration
of the functions in Richardson into our facility in Fremont, California. We also downsized our workforce by
approximately 200 employees, primarily in our manufacturing operations, and further consolidated our facilities
in Fremont, resulting in net restructuring charges of $22.4 million during fiscal year 2003.

Merger Costs

In connection with proposed acquisition activity in fiscal 2004, we expensed $472,000 in related merger
costs for those acquisitions that did not proceed.

On March 18, 2002, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization with Oplink Communications
pursuant to which we intended to acquire all of the outstanding capital stock of Oplink. The merger was subject to
the approval of our stockholders and the stockholders of Oplink. While our stockholders approved the issuance of
Avanex common stock in connection with the merger, the stockholders of Oplink failed to approve the merger on
August 15, 2002. We expensed $4.1 million in related merger costs in the first quarter of fiscal year 2003.

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income increased $1.0 million to $5.2 million in fiscal year 2004 from $4.2 million in
fiscal year 2003. The increase was primarily due to the increased cash balances assumed in the acquisitions.
Interest and other income decreased $3.1 million to $4.2 million in fiscal 2003 from $7.3 million in fiscal 2002
primarily due to lower yields on our cash investments and lower cash, cash equivalents and investment balances.

Interest and Other Expense

Interest and other expense increased $0.3 million to $1.9 million in fiscal year 2004 from $1.6 million in
fiscal year 2003. The increase was primarily due to the increased interest expense associated with borrowing
under our line of credit, capital lease obligations and equipment loans. Interest and other expense decreased $1.3
million to $1.6 million in fiscal 2003 from $2.9 million in fiscal 2002 primarily due to decreased interest expense
associated with borrowings under our line of credit, capital lease obligations and equipment loans.

Discontinued Operations

In February 2004, we entered into a share acquisition agreement with Gemfire Corporation (“Gemfire’)
pursuant to which Gemfire acquired our silica planar lightwave circuit (“PLC”) product line manufactured in
Livingston, Scotland, which was acquired in our acquisition of Alcatel Optronics in the first quarter of fiscal
2004. For fiscal year 2004, we have recorded a net loss from discontinued operations of $6.1 million.

Cumulative Effect of an Accounting Change to Adopt SFAS 142

In accordance with the adoption of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, we performed the
required two-step impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of July 1, 2002. In the
first step of the analysis, our assets and liabilities, including existing goodwill and other intangible assets, were
assigned to our identified reporting units to determine their carrying value. We believe we operate as one
reporting unit. After comparing the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair value, it was determined that the
goodwill recorded was impaired. After the second step of comparing the implied fair value of the goodwill to its
carrying value, we recognized a transitional impairment loss of $37.5 million in the first quarter of fiscal year
2003. This loss was recognized as the cumulative effect of an accounting change. :

23




The fair value of the reporting unit was determined using the income approach. The income approach
focuses on the income-producing capability of an asset, measuring the current value of the asset by calculating
the present value of its future economic benefits such as cash earnings, cost savings, tax deductions, and proceeds
from disposition. Value indications are developed by discounting expected cash flows to their present value at a
rate of return that incorporates the risk-free rate for the use of funds, the expected rate of inflation, and risks
associated with the particular investment.

As required by SFAS 142, intangible assets that did not meet the criteria for recognition apart from goodwill
were reclassified to goodwill. We reclassified $314,000 of net assembled workforce to goodwill as of July 1,
2002.

Oft-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of June 30, 2004, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Prior to our initial public offering, we financed our operations primarily through private sales of convertible
preferred stock. In February 2000, we received net proceeds of approximately $238.0 million from the initial
public offering of our common stock and a concurrent sale of stock to corporate investors. Subsequent to our
initial public offering, we have financed our operations through the sale of equity securities, bank borrowings,
equipment lease financings, acquisitions and other strategic transactions. In connection with the acquisitions of
the optical components business of Alcatel and Corning on July 31, 2003, Corning and Alcatel contributed cash,
cash equivalents and short-term investments of $128.6 million and we assumed liabilities of $124.2 million.

In November 2003, we entered into a securities purchase agreement pursuant to which the investors named
therein purchased, in the aggregate, 6,815,555 shares of our common stock at a price of $4.63 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $31.5 million. Net proceeds from this transaction amounted to
approximately $29.6 million after payment of fees to financial and legal advisors and other direct costs. In
connection with the issuance of the shares of common stock, the investors were issued rights which were
exercisable for up to an additional 1,363,116 shares of our common stock at $4.63 per share. During the third
quarter of fiscal 2004, 192,584 shares of common stock were issued upon the exercise of certain of such rights.
The remainder of these rights expired on March 16, 2004,

In February 2004, we entered into a securities purchase agreement pursuant to which the purchasers named
therein purchased, in the aggregate, 7,319,761 shares of our common stock at a price of $5.49 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $40.2 million. Net proceeds from this transaction amounted to
approximately $38.7 million after payment of fees to financial and legal advisors and other direct costs. In
connection with the issuance of the shares of common stock, the investors were issued rights which are - .
exercisable for up to an additional 1,463,954 shares of our common stock at $5.49 per share. None of these rights
were exercised, and the rights expired on June 9, 2004. .

As of June 30, 2004, we had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $89.1 million and
long-term investment holdings of $55.1 million.

Net cash used in operating activities was $177.1 million in fiscal year 2004, primarily reflecting a loss from
operations, and an increase in accrued restructuring charges, discontinued operations, an increase in accounts
receivable, an increase in inventory and decreases in warranty and other accrued expenses offset by a decrease in
other assets and an increase in accounts payable. Our use of cash was offset by non-cash charges related to the
provision for excess inventory, depreciation and amortization, gain on sale of equipment and stock compensation
expense. Net cash used in operating activities was $33.5 million in fiscal year 2003, primarily reflecting a loss
from operations, an increase in inventory and a decrease in other accrued expenses offset by a decrease in
accounts receivable and an increase in accrued restructuring.
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Net cash provided by investing activities was $113.5 million in fiscal year 2004. Net cash provided by
investing activities was primarily the result of cash due to the acquisitions, maturities of held-to-maturity
securities, net of purchases, offset by costs incurred in the purchases of other investments and purchases of
property and equipment. Net cash provided by investing activities was $20.9 million in fiscal year 2003. Net cash
provided by investing activities was primarily the result of maturities of held-to-maturity securities, net of
purchases, offset by costs incurred related to the proposed merger with Oplink and acquisitions of the optical
components businesses of Alcatel and Corning.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $67.1 million in fiscal year 2004, primarily as a result of
proceeds from issuance of common stock and proceeds from short-term borrowings and long-term debt, offset by
payments on short-term borrowings, long-term debt and capital lease obligations. Net cash used in financing
activities was $6.5 million in fiscal year 2003, primarily as a result of payments on long-term debt and capital
lease obligations and payments on short-term borrowings, offset by proceeds from payments of notes receivable
from stockholders and proceeds from short-term borrowings.

Our principal source of liquidity as of June 30, 2004 consisted of $144.2 million in cash, cash equivalents
and short-term and long-term investments. Additionally, we have a revolving line of credit from a financial
institution, which allows maximum borrowings up to $20.0 million through December 31, 2004, of which $3.7
million was drawn down and $3.6 million was pledged to secure letters of credit at June 30, 2004. The line of
credit requires us to comply with specified covenants. We were in compliance with all the covenants at June 30,
2004. The line bears interest at the prime rate plus 1.25%. At June 30, 2004 the effective interest rate was 5.25%.
We have pledged all of our assets as collateral for this line. We believe that if we are unable to renew the line of
credit subsequent to December 31, 2004, it will not have a significant impact on our liquidity.

As of July 31, 2004 our cash, cash equivalents and short and long-term investments were approximately
$126.7 million. We believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to meet our
cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. While we believe that our
net cash used in operating activities can be reduced through various cost reduction measures, we will require
additional financing to fund our operations in the future. In addition, from time to time, we may also consider the
acquisition of, or evaluate investments in, products and businesses complementary to our business. An
acquisition or investment may require additional capital. The significant contraction in the capital markets,
particularly in the technology sector, may make it difficult for us to raise additional capital if and when it is
required, especially if we experience disappointing operating results. If adequate capital is not available to us as
required, or is not available on favorable terms, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be
adversely affected.
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Qur contractual obligations and commitments have been summarized in the table below (in thousands):

Contractual Obligations

Due by Period
Less than After 5
Total 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years years
Long-termdebt ...................... $ 856 $§ 407 $ 449 § — $§ —
Capital lease obligations ............... 9,945 4,102 4,337 1,506 —_—
Operating leases . ............ ..., 36,606 6,905 13,212 10,949 5,540
Unconditional purchase obligations ...... 3,480 3,480 — — —
Pension obligations ................... 4,360 4,360 — — —
Total contractual cash obligations . .. . $55,247 $19,254  $17,998 $12,455  $5,540

Other Commercial Commitments
Commitment Expiration Per Period

Total
Amounts Less than After §
Committed 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years years
Lineofcredit ......ooovvvvnnen., $ 3,723 $3723 § — § — § —
Standby letters of credit ................ 3,580 3,580 — — —
Total commercial commitments ... .. $ 7,303 $ 7303 § — $ — $ —

We have unconditional purchase obligations to certain of our suppliers that support our ability to
manufacture our products. As of June 30, 2004, we had approximately $3.5 million of purchase obligations, none
of which is included on our balance sheet in accounts payable.

Under operating leases we have included total future minimum rent expense under non-cancelable.leases for

both current and abandoned facilities. We have included in the balance sheet $3.6 million and $15.2 million in
current and long-term restructuring liabilities for the abandoned facilities as of June 30, 2004.
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Unaudited Quarterly Results of Operation

The following table presents our unaudited quarterly operating results for the eight quarters ended June 30,
2004:

Quarters Ended
June 30, March 31, Dec.31, Sept.30, June30, March31, Dec.31, Sept. 30,
2004 2004 2003 2003 2003 2003 2002 2002
(In thousands except per share data)
_(Unaudited)
Consolidated Statement of Operations
Data:
Netrevenue ...........c.ooovvnnn... $31,869 $ 30,104 $26941 $18,018 $5464 $ 5400 $ 5337 $§ 5215
Costofrevenue .................... 37,064 36,281 34126 25,757 6,030 6,698 6,705 10,602
Stock compensation ................ — — 15 16 5 13 237 17
Gross profit (loss) .............. (5,195) 6,177y (7,200) (7.,755) (571) (1,311  (1,131) (5,404)
Operating expenses: ‘
Research and development . . ... .. 10,511 10,687 12,496 8,050 3,066 3,031 4,253 5,820
Sales and marketing ............ - 4,965 5,136 4,433 4,900 1,447 1,859 1,500 © 1,314
General and administrative . ... ... 4,880 7,830 6,235 5,194 1,837 2,445 3,035 1,716
Stock compensation (1) ......... 138 135 244 327 337 (2.358) 6 1,908
Amortization of intangibles .. .... 1,271 1,267 1,309 726 — — 80 120
Reduction in'long-lived assets .. .. — — — — — — 1,548 —
Restructuring charges (recovery) .. (4,792) 9,103 377) (155) 44) 4,750 4,987 12,745
Mergercosts .. ....ooiiiiii 472 — — — — — — 4,126
Total operating expenses .... 17,445 34,158 24340 19,042 6,643 9,727 15,409 27,749
Loss before the following ............ (22,640) (40,335) (31,540) (26,797) (7.214) (11,038) (16,540) (33,153)
Interest and other income, net . . . .. 1,020 569 771 " 939 608 635 656 634
Loss from continuing operations before
discontinued operations and
cummulative effect of an accounting .
change ............. ... ..., (21,620) (39,766) (30,769) (25,858) (6,6006) (10,403) (15,884) (32,519)
Loss from discontinued operations . . . .. — (1,265) (2,735 (2,054) — — — —
Loss before cummulative effect of an
accounting change’ ............... (21,620) (41,031) (33,504) (27.912) . (6,606) (10,403) (15,884) (32,519)
Cumulative effect of an accounting ‘ :
change to adopt SFAS 142 ....... .. — — — — — — —  (37,500)
Netloss .......... ... i, $(21,620) $(41,031) $(33,504) $(27,912) $(6,606) $(10,403) $(15,884) $(70,019)
Loss per share before discontinued and
operations cumulative effect of an
accounting change ............... $ (015 % 029 % (023)% 024 (0.10) $ (0.15 % (0.23) % (0.48)
Loss per share from discontinued
operations ...................... — 0.01) (0.02) (0.02) — — —_ —
Loss per share from cumulative effect of
an accounting change ............. — — — — — — — (0.56)
Basic and diluted netloss pershare .... $ (0.15) $ (029 $ (0.25) % (0.26)$ (0.10) $ (0.15) $ (0.23)8 (1.04)
(1) Below is the allocation of stock
compensation expense (recovery):
Research and development .. ... .. $ 83 % 77 % 84 $ 119 $ 277 $ (2355 % 936 $ 1,035
Sales and marketing ............ 55 58 127 134 14 14 (128) 99
General and administrative . ... ... — — 33 74 46 a7 (802) 972

$ 138 § 135§ 244§ 327 § 337 $(2,358) % 6 $ 1,908
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We believe this information reflects all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) that
we consider necessary for a fair presentation of such information in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States.

QOur revenues and operating results are likely to vary significantly from quarter to quarter. See “Factors That
May Affect Future Results—Our future revenues and operating results are inherently unpredictable, and as a
result, we may fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price
to decline.” Due to these and other factors, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating
results will not be meaningful, and you should not rely on our results for one quarter as any indication of our
future performance.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus on EITF 00-21
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”. EITF 00-21 sets out criteria for when
revenue on a deliverable can be recognized separately from other deliverables in a multiple deliverable
arrangement. EITF 00-21 was effective for revenue agreements entered into in fiscal quarters beginning after
June 15, 2003. Avanex adopted the provisions of EITF 00-21 effective July 1, 2003 and such adoptlon did not
have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46
(FIN 46) “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” In December 2003, FIN
46 was revised to clarify certain provisions and change the effective date. FIN 46 requires certain variable
interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do
not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity
to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. Application of FIN
46 (as revised) is required for all variable interest entities or potential variable interest entities effective
December 31, 2003. Application of FIN 46 for all other entities is required effective March 31, 2004. Avanex
adopted the provisions of FIN 46 effective July 1, 2003 and such adoption did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149 “Amendment of
Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (SFAS 149). SFAS 149 amends and clarifies
accounting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and
for hedging activities under SFAS 133. SFAS 149 is effective for contracts and hedging relationships entered into
or modified after June 30, 2003. Avanex adopted the provisions of SFAS 149 effective July 1, 2003 and such
adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150 “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity” (SFAS 150). SFAS 150 establishes standards for classification and
measurement in the statement of financial position of certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. Avanex adopted the provisions of SFAS 150 effective July 1, 2003 and such adoption did
not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have identified the
following risks and uncertainties that may have a material adverse affect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations. Investors should carefully consider the risks described below before making an investment
decision. The risks described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks not presently known to us or
that we currently believe are immaterial may also impair our business operations. Our business could be harmed
by any of these risks. The trading price of our common stock could decline due to any of these risks and investors
may lose all or part of their investment. This section should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes thereto, and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Resuits of Operations contained in this Form 10-K.

I. Financial and Revenue Risks.

We have a history of negative cash flow and losses, which is likely to continue if we are unable to increase
our revenues and further reduce our costs.

We have never been profitable. We have experienced operating losses in each quarterly and annual period
since our inception in 1997, and we may continue to incur operating losses for the foreseeable future. As of
June 30, 2004, we had an accumulated deficit of $511.1 million. Also, for the year ended June 30, 2004, and each
of our prior fiscal years, we had negative operating cash flow, and we expect to continue to incur negative
operating cash flow in future periods. In addition, our acquisitions of the optical components businesses of
Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse Semiconductor have increased our operating losses.

Due to insufficient cash generated from operations, we have funded our operations primarily through the
sale of equity securities, bank borrowings, equipment lease financings, acquisitions and other strategic
transactions. Although we implemented cost reduction programs in fiscal year 2003 and fiscal year 2004, we
continue to have significant fixed expenses, and we expect to continue to incur considerable manufacturing, sales
and marketing, product development and administrative expenses. In addition, we completed our acquisitions of
the optical components businesses of Alcate] and Corning in July 2003 and Vitesse in August 2003. The costs
and operating expenses of the combined company are significantly greater than the costs and operating expenses
of Avanex as a stand-alone company. As a result, the combined operations of Avanex and the optical components
businesses of Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse have substantially increased the rate at which Avanex uses its cash
resources. If we fail to generate higher revenues and increase our gross margins while containing our costs and
operating expenses, our financial position will be harmed significantly. Our revenues may not grow in the future,
and we may never generate sufficient revenues to achieve profitability.

If we do not reduce costs and improve our gross margins, our financial condition and results of operations
will be adversely impacted.

Our ability to achieve profitability depends on our ability to control costs and expenses in relation to sales
and to increase our gross margin. During the year ended June 30, 2004, our gross margin percentage was
negative 25%. Because the majority of our manufacturing costs is relatively fixed, our inability to maintain
appropriate manufacturing capacity in relation to our sales negatively impacts our gross margin. We may not
achieve manufacturing cost levels that will allow us to achieve acceptable gross margins.

In addition, over our limited operating history, the average selling prices of our products have decreased,
and we expect this trend to continue. Future price decreases may be due to a number of factors, including
competitive pricing pressures, rapid technological change and sales discounts. Therefore, to improve our gross
margin, we must develop and introduce new products and product enhancements on a timely basis and reduce
our costs of production. Moreover, as our average selling prices decline, we must increase our unit sales volume,
or introduce new products, to maintain or increase our revenues. If our average selling prices decline more
rapidly than our costs of production, our gross margin will decline, which could adversely impact our business,
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financial condition and results of operations. If we are unable to generate positive gross margins in the future, our
cash flows from operations would be negatively impacted, and we would be unable to achieve profitability.

We may have difficulty obtaining additional capital because of reduced funding of and lending to
companies in the optical components industry.

The optical components sector of the telecommunications industry, in which we operate, has been severely
affected by the recent downturn in the global economy. As a result, companies in this sector have experienced
difficulty in raising capital, whether through equity or debt financing transactions. We will require additional
financing to fund our operations in the future. It may be difficult for us to raise additional capital if and when it is
required. If adequate capital is not available to us as required, or if it is not available on favorable terms, our
business and financial condition would be adversely affected.

Our future revenues and operating results are inherently unpredictable, and as a result, we may fail to
meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to decline.

Our revenues and operating results have fluctuated significantly from quarter-to-quarter in the past, and may
continue to fluctuate significantly in the future. Factors that are likely to cause these fluctuations, some of which
are outside of our control, include, without limitation, the following:

+ the current economic environment and other developments in the telecommunications industry,
including the severe business setbacks of customers or potential customers and the current perceived
oversupply of communications bandwidth;

» the mix of our products sold, including inventory items with low product costs;
« our ability to control expenses;

« fluctuations in demand for and sales of our products, which will depend upon the speed and magnitude
of the transition to an all-optical network, the acceptance of our products in the marketplace, and the
general level of spending on infrastructure projects in the telecommunications industry;

» cancellations of orders and shipment rescheduling;
+ changes in product specifications required by customers for existing and future products;
» satisfaction of contractual customer acceptance criteria and related revenue recognition issues;

* our ability to maintain appropriate manufacturing capacity, and particularly to limit excess capacity
commensurate with the volatile demand levels for our products;

* our ability to successfully complete a transition to an outsourced manufacturing model;

+ the ability of our outsourced manufacturers to timely produce and deliver subcomponents, and possibly
complete products in the quantity and of the quality we require;

+ the current practice of companies in the telecommunications industry of sporadically placing large
orders with short lead times;

* competitive factors, including the introduction of new products and product enhancements by
competitors and potential competitors, pricing pressures, and the competitive environment in the
markets into which we sell our photonic processor solutions and products, including competitors with
substantially greater resources than we have;

» our ability to effectively develop, introduce, manufacture, and ship new and enhanced products in a
timely manner without defects;

» the availability and cost of components for our products;

* new product introductions that may result in increased research and development expenses and sales and
marketing expenses that are incurred in one quarter, with revenues, if any, that are not recognized until a
subsequent or later quarter;
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» the unpredictability of customer demand and difficulties in meeting such demand; and

* costs associated with, and the outcome of, any litigation to which we are, or may become, a party.

A high percentage of our expenses, including those related to manufacturing, engineering, sales and
marketing, research and development, and general and administrative functions, is fixed in the short term. As a

result, if we experience delays in generating and recognizing revenue, our quarterly operating results are likely to
be seriously harmed.

Due to these and other factors, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating resulits may
not be meaningful. Our results for one quarter should not be relied upon as any indication of our future
performance. It is possible that in future quarters our operating results may be below the expectations of public
market analysts or investors. If this occurs, the price of our common stock would likely decrease.

Our stock price is highly volatile.

The trading price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly since our initial public offering in
February 2000, and is likely to remain volatile in the future. The trading price of our common stock could be
subject to wide fluctuations in response to many events or factors, including the following:

* quarterly variations in our operating results;

+ significant developments in the businesses of telecommunications companies;

* changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;

« changes in market valuations or financial results of telecommunications-related companies;

» announcements by us or our competitors of technology innovations, new products, or significant
acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint ventures;

* any deviation from projected growth rates in revenues;
* any loss of a major customer or a major customer order;
» additions or departures of key management or engineering personnel;
* any deviations in our net revenue or in losses from levels expected by securities analysts;
« activities of short sellers and risk arbitrageurs;
¢ future sales of our commoﬁ stock; and
~«  volume fluctuations, which are particularly common among highly volatile securities of

telecommunications-related companies.

In addition, the stock market has experienced volatility that has particularly affected the market prices of
equity securities of many high technology companies, which often has been unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of these companies. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market
price of our common stock. As long as we continue to depend on a limited customer base and a limited number
of products, there is substantial risk that our quarterly results will fluctuate.

In July 2003, we issued an aggregate of 56,844,376 shares of our common stock to Alcatel and Corning
Incorporated in connection with our acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning.
Alcatel and Corning own shares of Avanex common stock representing 24.58% and 13.53%, respectively, of the
outstanding shares of Avanex common stock as of September 7, 2004. In connection with these acquisitions, we
entered into a stockholders’ agreement with Alcatel and Corning. Pursuant to the stockholders’ agreement, we
registered 56,844,376 shares of common stock on behalf of Alcatel and Corning in July 2004. Subject to certain
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restrictions on transfer which apply for a period of two years following the completion of our acquisitions of the
optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning, Alcatel or Corning may sell substantial amounts of our
common stock in the public market which could cause the market price of our common stock to fall, and could
make it more difficult for us to raise capital through public offerings or other sales of our capital stock.
Specifically, pursuant to the stockholders’ agreement, Alcatel, Corning and certain affiliates may sell up to an
aggregate of 5,684,437 shares of our common stock between July 29, 2004, and September 30, 2004. An
aggregate of 51,159,939 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Alcatel and Corning will continue to be
subject to restrictions on transfer pursuant to the stockholders’ agreement. After September 30, 2004, Alcatel and
Corning will be permitted to dispose of an additional ten percent (10%) of the shares acquired from Avanex
during each of the subsequent four calendar quarters, subject to certain exceptions. Furthermore, during the
quarter ending December 31, 2004, Alcatel will be permitted to dispose of more than ten percent (10%) of the
shares it owns, provided that it continues to hold at least that number of shares equal to 19.9% of the shares of
common stock of Avanex outstanding at the end of that quarter. In addition, if Alcatel sells any of its shares of
Avanex common stock in the quarter ending December 31, 2004, pursuant to the exception described above, it
may only dispose of a number of shares in the following quarter to the extent that, at the end of that quarter, it
holds at least 70% of the shares originally acquired from Avanex. If Alcatel, Corning or our other stockholders
sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market during a short period of time, our stock price
may decline significantly.

II. Market and Competitive Risks.
Market conditions in the telecommunications industry may significantly harm our financial position.

In the past several years, there has been a significant reduction in spending in the telecommunications
industry. Certain large telecommunications companies who were customers or potential customers of ours have
suffered severe business setbacks and face uncertain futures. There is currently a perception that an oversupply of
communications bandwidth exists. This perceived oversupply, coupled with the current economic environment,
may lead to the continuation of lower telecommunications spending, and our customers may continue to cancel,
defer or significantly reduce their orders for our products.

We sell our products primarily to a few large customers in the telecommunications industry. Three
customers (including sales to their contract manufacturers) accounted for an aggregate of 61% of our net revenue
for the year ended June 30, 2004. We expect that the majority of our revenues will continue to depend on sales of
our products to a small number of customers. If current customers do not continue to place significant orders, or
if they cancel or delay current orders, we may not be able to replace these orders. In addition, any negative
developments in the business of existing customers could result in significantly decreased sales to these
customers, which could seriously harm our revenues and results of operations. We have experienced, and in the
future we may experience, losses as a result of the inability to collect accounts receivable, as well as the loss of
ongoing business from customers experiencing financial difficulties. If our customers fail to meet their payment
obligations, we could experience reduced cash flows and losses in excess of amounts reserved. Because of our
reliance on a limited number of customers, any decrease in revenues from, or loss of, one or more of these
customers without a corresponding increase in revenues from other customers would harm our operating results.

Our customers are under no obligation to buy significant quantities of our products, and may cancel or
delay purchases with minimal advance notice to us.

Our customers typically purchase our products pursuant to individual purchase orders. While we have
executed long-term contracts with some of our customers, and may enter into additional long-term contracts with
other customers in the future, these contracts do not obligate our customers to buy significant quantities of our
products, except for our supply agreement and frame purchase agreement with Alcatel. Our customers may
cancel, defer or decrease purchases without significant penalty and with little or no advance notice. Further,
certain of our customers have a tendency to purchase our products near the end of a fiscal quarter. Cancellation
or delays of such orders may cause us to fail to achieve that quarter’s financial and operating goals. Decreases in
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purchases, cancellations of purchase orders, or deferrals of purchases may significantly harm our business,
particularly if they are not anticipated.

We experience intense competition with respect to our products.

We believe that our principal competitors in the optical systems and components industry include Bookham
Technology, DiCon Fiberoptics, Eudyna, Finisar, Fujitsu, Hitachi Cable, JDS Uniphase, NEC, Oplink
Communications, Opnext, and Triquint Semiconductor. We may also face competition from companies that
expand into our industry in the future. ‘

Some of our competitors have longer operating histories and significantly greater financial, technical,
marketing and other resources than we have. As a result, some of these competitors are able to devote greater
resources to the development, promotion, sale, and support of their products. In addition, our competitors that
have larger market capitalization or cash reserves are better positioned than we are to acquire other companies in
order to gain new technologies or products that may displace our product lines. Consolidation in the optical
systems and components industry could intensify the competitive pressures that we face because these
consolidated competitors may have longer operating histories and significantly greater financial, technical,
marketing and other resources than we have. For example, three of our historical competitors, JDS Uniphase,
SDL, and E-Tek Dynamics have merged over the past several years to become a single, more formidable
competitor. This merged company has announced its intention to offer more integrated products that could make
our products less competitive. More recently, Bookham Technology acquired the optical components business of
Nortel and Marconi and has since become a stronger competitor, and Finisar has announced that it has entered
into an agreement to acquire the fiber optics business of Infineon Technologies.

Some existing customers and potential customers, as well as suppliers and potential suppliers, are also our
competitors. These customers and suppliers may develop or acquire additional competitive products or
technologies in the future, which may cause them to reduce or cease their purchases from us or supply to us, as
the case may be. Further, these customers may reduce or discontinue purchasing our products if they perceive us
as a serious competitive threat with regard to sales of products to their customers. Additionally, suppliers may
reduce or discontinue selling materials to us if they perceive us as a serious competitive threat with regard to
sales of products to their customers. As a result of these factors, we expect that competitive pressures will
intensify and may result in price reductions, reduced margins and loss of market share.

Competition in the optical systems and components industry has contributed to substantial price-driven
competition. As a result, sales prices for specific products have decreased over time at varying rates, in some
instances significantly. Price pressure is exacerbated by the rapid emergence of new technologies and the
evolution of technical standards, which can greatly diminish the value of products relying on older technologies
and standards. In addition, the current economic and industry environment in the telecommunications sector has
resulted in pressure to reduce prices for our products, and we expect pricing pressure to continue for the
foreseeable future, which may continue to adversely affect our operating results. Reduced spending by our
customers has caused and may continue to cause increased price competition, resulting in a decline in the prices
we charge for our products. If our customers and potential customers continue to constrain their spending, or if
the prices we charge continue to decline, our revenues and margins may be adversely affected.

We will lose market share and may not be successful if our customers do not qualify our products to be
designed into their products and systems or if our customers significantly delay purchasing our products.

In the telecommunications industry, service providers and optical systems manufacturers often undertake
extensive qualification processes prior to placing orders for large quantities of products such as ours, because
these products must function as part of a larger system or network. Once they decide to use a particular supplier’s
product or component, these potential customers design the product into their system, which is known as a
“design-in” win. Suppliers whose products or components are not designed in are unlikely to make sales to that
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company until the adoption of a future redesigned system at the earliest, which could occur several years after the
last design-in win. If we fail to achieve design-in wins in potential customers’ qualification processes, we may
lose the opportunity for significant sales to such customers for a lengthy period of time.

The long sales cycles for sales of our products to customers may cause operating results to vary from
quarter to quarter, which could continue to cause volatility in our stock price, and may prevent us from
achieving profitability.

The period of time between our initial contact with certain of our customers and the receipt of an actual
purchase order from such customers often spans a time period of six to nine months, and sometimes longer.
During this time, customers may perform, or require us to perform, extensive and lengthy evaluation and testing
of our products and our manufacturing processes before purchasing our products. While our customers are
evaluating our products before they place an order with us, we may incur substantial sales and marketing and
research and development expenses, expend significant management efforts, increase manufacturing capacity
and order long-lead-time supplies. If we increase capacity and order supplies in anticipation of an order that does
not materialize, our gross margins will decline and we will have to carry and write off excess inventory. Even if
we receive an order, if we are required to add additional manufacturing capacity in order to service the
customer’s requirements, such manufacturing capacity may be underutilized in a subsequent quarter, especially if
an order is delayed or cancelled. Either situation could cause our results of operations to be below the
expectations of investors and public market analysts, which could, in turn, cause the price of our common stock
to decline.

If the communications industry does not continue to evolve and grow steadily, our business may not
succeed.

Future demand for our products is uncertain and will depend to a great degree on the speed of the
widespread adoption of optical networks. If the transition occurs too slowly or ceases altogether, the market for
our products and the growth of our business will be significantly limited.

Our future success depends on the continued growth and success of the telecommunications industry,
including the continued growth of the Internet as a widely used medium for commerce and communication and
the continuing demand for increased bandwidth over communications networks. If the Internet does not continue
to expand as a widespread communication medium and commercial marketplace, the need for significantly
increased bandwidth across networks and the market for optical transmission products may not develop. As a
result, it would be unlikely that our products would achieve commercial success.

The rate at which telecommunications service providers and other optical network users have built new optical
networks or installed new systems in their existing optical networks has fluctuated in the past and these fluctuations
may continue in the future. Sales of our components depend on sales of fiber optic telecommunications systems by
our systems-level customers, which are shipped in quantity when telecommunications service providers add
capacity. Systems manufacturers compete for sales in each capacity deployment. If systems manufacturers that use
our products in their systems do not win a contract, their demand for our products will decline, reducing our future
revenues. Similarly, a telecommunications service provider’s delay in selecting systems manufacturers for a
deployment could delay our shipments and revenues.

II. Acquisition and Integration Risks.
Difficulties in integrating our acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel, Corning and
Vitesse have and could adversely impact our business.

We completed the acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning in July 2003 and
Vitesse in August 2003. These acquisitions are the largest acquisitions we have completed, and the complex process
of integrating these businesses has required, and will continue to require, significant resources. Integrating the
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businesses acquired from Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse has been and will continue to be time consuming and
expensive. Failure to achieve the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or to integrate successfully the operations
of the acquired businesses could harm our business, results of operations and cash flows. We may not realize the
benefits we anticipate.from these acquisitions because of the following significant challenges:

+ expected synergistic benefits from the acquisitions, such as lower costs, may not be realized or may be
realized more slowly than anticipated, particularly with regard to costs associated with a reduction in
headcount and facilities;

¢ potentially incompatible cultural differences among the businesses;

* incorporating technology and products acquired or licensed from Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse into our
current and future product lines;

* generating market demand for an expanded product line;

* integrating products and manufacturing processes acquired from Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse with our
business;

* geographic dispersion of operations;

* integrating technical teams acquired from Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse with our engineering and
manufacturing organizations; and

* our inability to retain previous customers, suppliers, distributors, licensors or employees of Alcatel,
Corning and Vitesse.

As of August 31, 2004 we employed 912 employees, primarily located in California, New York, France and
Italy. Prior to the acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse, most of our
employees had been based at or near our headquarters in Fremont, California. As a result, we face challenges
inherent in efficiently managing a large number of employees over large geographic distances, including the need
to implement and manage appropriate systems, policies, benefits and compliance programs. The inability to
successfully manage the substantially larger and geographically diverse organization, or any significant delay in
achieving successful management, could have a material adverse effect on us and, as a result, on the market price
of our common stock.

We have incurred and expect to continue to incur significant costs and commit significant management time
integrating the operations, technology, development programs, products, information systems, customers and
personnel of the businesses acquired from Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse. These costs have been and will likely
continue to be substantial and include costs for:

+ converting, integrating, upgrading and managing information systems, including the extremely complex
and time-consuming integration of data from Alcatel and Corning’s incompatible enterprise resource
planning systems with our system;

* integrating and reorganizing operations, including combining teams, facilities and processes in various
functional areas;

* identifying duplicative or redundant resources and facilities, developing plans for resource consolidation
and implementing those plans;

» professionals and consultants involved in completing the integration process;
* vacating, subleasing and closing facilities;

« employee relocation, redeployment or severance costs;

4 i.ntegrating technology and products; and

» our financial advisor, legal, accounting and financial printing fees.
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In addition to the significant costs associated with converting and integrating Alcatel’s and Corning’s
information systems, there are other significant risks associated with this process. For example, while migrating
Alcatel or Corning data to our information system, we could lose such data or such data may be inaccessible to us
during the lengthy integration process. In addition, we are in the process of upgrading and updating our
information systems, which will be costly and will further divert management’s attention.

Acquisitions and investments may adversely affect our business.

We regularly review acquisition and investment prospects that would complement our existing product
offerings, augment our market coverage, secure supplies of critical materials or enhance our technological
capabilities. Acquisitions or investments have resulted in, and in the future could result in, a number of financial
consequences, including without limitation:

+ potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities;

+ reduced cash balances and related interest income;

< higher fixed expenses which require a higher level of revenues to maintain groés margins;
» the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities;

* amortization expenses related to intangible assets; and

* large, one-time write-offs.

For example, as a result of our acquisitions of Holographix and LambdaFlex, we recorded in the first quarter
of fiscal year 2003 a transitional goodwill impairment charge for all of our goodwill of $37.5 million, in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
Further, as a result of our disposal of certain property, equipment and intellectual property rights, we recorded in
the second quarter of fiscal year 2003 a charge for reduction in long-lived assets of $1.5 million, in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets.”

In addition, in March 2002, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization with Oplink
Communications, pursuant to which we intended to acquire all of the outstanding capital stock of Oplink. The
merger was subject to the approval of our stockholders and the stockholders of Oplink. While our stockholders
approved the issnance of Avanex common stock in connection with the merger, the stockholders of Oplink failed
to approve the merger in August 2002. We expensed $4.1 million in related merger expenses during the first
quarter of fiscal year 2003.

Furthermore, acquisitions may involve numerous operational risks, similar to the integration and operational
risks and costs described above with regard to the businesses acquired from Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse.

IV. Operations and Research and Development Risks.
We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to evaluate our prospects and our operations.

We are in the optical systems and components industry. We were first incorporated in October 1997.
Because of our limited operating history, we have limited insight into trends that may emerge in our industry and
affect our business. The revenue and income potential of the optical systems and components industry, and our
business in particular, are unproven. As a result of our limited operating history, we have limited financial data
that can be used to evaluate our business. Our prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and
challenges we might encounter because we are in a new and rapidly evolving industry.

We face various risks related to our manufacturing operations that may adversely affect our business.

We may experience delays, disruptions or quality control problems in our manufacturing operations or the
manufacturing operations of our third party manufacturers, and, as a result, product shipments to our customers

36



could be delayed beyond the shipment schedules requested by our customers, which would negatively affect our
business. Furthermore, even if we are able to timely deliver products to our customers, we may be unable to
recognize revenue because of our revenue recognition policies. In the past, we have experienced disruptions in
the manufacture of some of our products due to changes in our manufacturing processes, which resulted in
reduced manufacturing yields, delays in the shipment of our products and deferral of revenue recognition. Any
disruptions in the future could adversely affect our revenues, gross margins and results of operations. Changes in
our manufacturing processes or those of our third party manufacturers,-or the inadvertent use of defective
materials by our third party manufacturers or us, could significantly reduce our manufacturing yields and product
reliability. Because the majority of our manufacturing costs is relatively fixed, manufacturing yields are critical
to our results of operations. Lower than expected manufacturing yields could delay product shipments and further
impair our gross margins.

We may need to develop new manufacturing processes and techniques that will involve higher levels of
automation to improve our gross margins and achieve the targeted cost levels of our customers. If we fail to
effectively manage this process or if we experience delays, disruptions or quality control problems in our
manufacturing operations, our shipments of products to our customers could be delayed.

We face risks related to our concentration of research and development efforts on a limited number of key
industry standards and technologies, and our future success depends on our ability to develop and
successfully introduce new and enhanced products that meet the needs of our customers in a timely
manner.

In the past, we have concentrated our research and development efforts on a limited number of technologies
that we believed had the best growth prospects. If we are unable to develop commercially viable products using
these technologies, or these technologies do'not become generally accepted, our business will likely suffer.

We have organized our product portfolio into two product groups: Active Optical Solutions and Passive
Optical Solutions. These product groups consist of six solution categories: Transmission, Amplification, and
Network Managed Subsystems, which are Active Optical Solutions, and Multiplexing and Signal Processing,
Dispersion Compensation, and Switching and Routing, which are Passive Optical Solutions. Within each of these
solution categories, we have numerous products to address the needs of our customers. The markets for our
products are characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product introduction, changes in
customer requirements, and evolving industry standards. Our future performance will depend upon the successful
development, introduction and market acceptance of new and enhanced products that address these changes. We
may not be able to develop the underlying core technologies necessary to create new or enhanced products, or to
license or otherwise acquire these technologies from third parties. Product development delays may result from
numerous factors, including:

* changing product specifications and customer requirements;

+ difficulties in hiring and retaining necessary technical personnel;

» difficulties in reallocating engineering resources and overcoming resource limitations;

* changing market or compétitive product requirements; and

* unanticipated engineering complexities.

More recently, our industry has increased its focus on products that transmit voice, video and data traffic
over shorter distances and are offered at lower cost than the products that we offer to our telecommunications

customers for transmission of information over longer distances. If we are unable to develop products that meet
the requirements of potential customers of these products, our business will suffer.

The development of new, technologically advanced products is a complex and uncertain process requiring
high levels of innovation and highly skilled engineering and development personnel, as well as the accurate
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anticipation of technological and market trends. We cannot assure that we will be able to identify, develop,
manufacture, market or support new or enhanced products successfully, or on a timely basis. In addition, the
introduction of new and enhanced products may cause our customers to defer or cancel orders for existing
products. To the extent customers defer or cancel orders for existing products due to the expectation of a new
product release or if there is any delay in development or introduction of our new products or enhancements of
our products, our operating results would suffer. Further, we cannot assure that our new products will gain
market acceptance or that we will be able to respond effectively to competitive products, technological changes
or emerging industry standards. Any failure to respond to technological change would significantly harm our
business.

If we are unable to forecast component and material requirements accurately or if we are unable to
commit to deliver sufficient quantities of our products to satisfy customers’ needs, our results of
operations will be adversely affected.

Our customers (ypically require us to commit to delivering certain quantities of our products to them (in
guaranteed safety stock, guaranteed capacity or otherwise) without committing themselves to purchase such
products, or any quantity of such products. Therefore, wide variations between estimates of our customers’ needs
and their actual purchases may result in:

» asurplus and potential obsolescence of inventory, materials and capacity, if estimates of our customers’
requirements are greater than our customers’ actual need; or

« alack of sufficient products to satisfy our customers’ needs, if estimates of our customers’ requirements
are less than our customers’ actual needs.

We use a rolling six-month to twelve-month demand forecast based on anticipated and historical product
orders to determine our component and material requirements. It is very important that we accurately predict
both the demand for our products and the lead times required to obtain the necessary components and materials.
It is very difficult to develop accurate forecasts of product demand, especially given the current uncertain
conditions in the telecommunications industry. Order cancellations and lower order volumes by our customers
have in the past created excess inventories. For example, the inventory write-offs taken in the years ended
June 30, 2003, and June 30, 2002, were primarily the result of our inability to anticipate the sudden decrease in
demand for our products. We have recorded $48.2 million of excess and obsolete inventory write-offs from our
inception through June 30, 2004. If we fail to accurately predict both the demand for our products and the lead
times required to obtain the necessary components and materials in the future, we could incur additional excess
and obsolete inventory write-offs. If we underestimate our component and material requirements, we may have
inadequate inventory, which could interrupt our manufacturing and delay delivery of our products to our
customers. Any of these occurrences would negatively affect our results of operations.

Network carriers and telecommunication system integrators historically have required that suppliers commit
to provide specified quantities of products over a given period of time. If we are unable to commit to deliver
sufficient quantities of our products to satisfy a customer’s anticipated needs, we may lose the opportunity to
make significant sales to that customer over a lengthy period of time. In addition, we may be unable to pursue
large orders if we do not have sufficient manufacturing capacity to enable us to provide customers with specified
quantities of products. If we cannot deliver sufficient quantities of our products, we may lose business, which
could adversely impact our business, financial condition, and resuits of operations.

If our customers do not qualify our manufacturing processes they may not purchase our products, and our
operating results could suffer.

Certain of our customers will not purchase our products prior to qualification of our manufacturing
processes and approval of our quality assurance system. The qualification process determines whether the
manufacturing line meets the quality, performance and reliability standards of our customers. These customers
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may also require that we, and any manufacturer that we may use, be registered under international quality
standards, such as ISO 9001. In August 2000, we successfully passed the ISO 9001 registration audit and
received formal registration of our quality assurance system at our Fremont facility, and we have passed
subsequent reviews as well. Delays in obtaining customer qualification of our manufacturing processes or
approval of our quality assurance system may cause a product to be removed from a long-term supply program
and result in significant lost revenue opportunity over the term of that program.

All of the sites acquired as a result of the acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and
Corning are currently certified to ISO 9001.

Our dependence on independent manufacturers may result in product delivery delays and may harm our
operations. ‘ ‘

We rely on outsourced manufacturers to manufacture a portion of our components, subassemblies and
finished products. We intend to develop further our relationships with these manufacturers so that they will
eventually manufacture many of our high volume key components and subassemblies, and possibly a substantial
portion of our finished products, in the future. The qualification of these independent manufacturers under
quality assurance standards is an expensive and time-consuming process. Our independent manufacturers have a
limited history.of manufacturing optical subcomponents, and have no history of manufacturing our products on a
turnkey basis. Any interruption in the operations of these manufacturers, or any deficiency in the quality or
quantity of the subcomponents or products built for us by these manufacturers, could impede our ability to meet -
our scheduled product deliveries to our customers. As a result, we may lose existing or potential customers. We
have limited experience in working with outsourced manufacturers, and do not have contracts in place with many
of these manufacturers. As a result, we may not be able to effectively manage our relationships with these
manufacturers. If we cannot effectively manage our manufacturing relationships, or if these manufacturers fail to
deliver components in a timely manner, we could experience significant delays in product deliveries, which may
have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Increased reliance on outsourced manufacturing,
and the ultimate disposition of our manufacturing capacity in the future, may result in impairment charges -
relating to our long-lived assets in future periods, which would have an adverse impact on our business, financiat
condition and results of operations. In addition, for a period of time as we transfer production of certain products
to these third party manufacturers and as our customers qualify such third party manufacturers, we incur fixed
and variable costs at both locations.

Our products may have defects that are not detected until full deployment of a customer’s network, which
could result in a loss of customers and revenue and damage to our reputation.

Our products are designed to be deployed in large and complex optical networks and must be compatible
with existing and future components of such networks. Our products can only be fully tested for reliability when
deployed in networks for long periods of time. Our products may not operate as expected, and our customers may
discover errors, defects, or incompatibilities in our products only after they have been fully deployed and are
operating under peak stress conditions. If we are unable to fix errors or other problems, we could experience:

s Joss of customers or customer ordérs;

* loss of or delay in revenues;

* loss of market share;

* loss or damage to our brand and reputation;

* inability to attract new customers or achieve market acceptance;
« diversion of development resources;

* increased service and warranty costs;
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* legal actions by our customers; and

* increased insurance costs.

We may be required to indemnify our customers against certain liabilities arising from defects in our
products, which liabilities may also include the following costs and expenses:

* costs and expenses incurred by our customers or their customers to fix the problems; or

* costs and expenses incurred by our customers or their customers to replace our products, or their
products which incorporate our products, with other product solutions.

While we carry insurance policies covering this type of liability, these policies may not provide sufficient
protection should a claim be asserted. To date, product defects have not had a material negative effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations, however we cannot be certain that they will not have a
material negative effect on us in the future.

We depend on key personnel to manage our business effectively, and if we are unable to hire and retain
qualified personnel, our ability to sell our products could be harmed.

Our future success depends, in part, on certain key employees and on our ability to attract and retain highly
skilled personnel. We have recently hired a new President and Chief Executive Officer. In addition, we have
recently made other significant changes in our executive and management teams, and there can be no assurance
that these changes will be successful. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel, the inability to attract
or retain qualified personnel, or delays in hiring required personnel, particularly engineering, sales or marketing
personnel, may seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. None of our officers or
key employees has an employment agreement for a specific term, and these employees may terminate their
employment at any time. For example, four of our executive officers left Avanex in the second quarter of fiscal
year 2003, and two of our executive officers left Avanex in the second quarter of fiscal year 2004. We do not
have key person life insurance policies covering any of our employees. Our ability to continue to attract and
retain highly skilled personnel will be a critical factor in determining whether we will be successful in the future.
Competition for highly skilled personnel is frequently intense, especially in the San Francisco Bay Area. We may
not be successful in attracting, assimilating or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs.

While we have expanded our international operations as a result of the acquisitions of the optical
components businesses of Alcatel and Corning, we face risks that could prevent us from successfully
manufacturing, marketing and distributing our products internationally.

As a result of the acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning, we expanded
our international operations, including expansion of overseas product manufacturing, and we may continue to
expand internationally in the future. Further, we have increased international sales and intend to further increase
our international sales and the number of our international customers. This expansion has required and will
continue to require significant management attention and financial resources to successfully develop direct and
indirect international sales and support channels. We may not be able to maintain international market demand
for our products. We currently have limited experience in manufacturing, marketing and distributing our products
internationally. In addition, international operations are subject to inherent risks, including, without limitation,
the following:

» greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection and longer collection periods;
« difficulties inherent in managing remote foreign operations;

+ difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations with personnel who have expertise in
optics;

* import or export licensing and product certification requirements;
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+ tariffs, duties, price controls or other restrictions on foreign currencies or trade barriers imposed by
foreign countries;

* potential adverse tax consequences;
* seasonal reductions in business activity in some parts of the world;

* burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws, particularly with respect to intellectual
property, license requirements, employment matters and environmental requirements;

¢ the 'impac't of récessions in economies outside of the United States;
* unexpected changes in regulatory or certification requirements for optical systems or networks; and

*  political and economic instability, terrorism and war.

Historically our international revenues and expenses have been denominated predominantly in U.S. dollars;
however, as a result of the acquisitions of the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning, a portion of
our international revenues and expenses are now denominated in foreign currencies. Therefore, fluctuations in
the value of foreign currencies could have a negative impact on the profitability of our global operations, which
would seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

V. Intellectual Prdperty and Litigation Risks.
Current and future litigation against us could be costly and time consuming to defend.

We are regularly subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business.
Litigation may result in substantial costs and may divert management’s attention and resources, which may
seriously harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may be unable to protect our proprietary technology, which could significantly impair our ability to
compete.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality agreements
and other contractual restrictions on disclosure to protect our. intellectual property rights. We also rely on
confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants and corporate partners, and controlled access to and
distribution of our technology, software, documentation and other confidential information. We have numerous
patents issued or applied for in the United States and abroad, of which some may be jointly filed or owned with
other parties. Further, we license certain intellectual property from third parties, including Alcatel and Corning,
that is critical to our business,.and we also license intellectual property to other parties. We cannot assure you
that any patent applications or issued patents will protect our proprietary technology, or that any patent
applications or patents issued will not be challenged by third parties. Further, we cannot assure you that parties
from whom we license intellectual property will not violate their agreements with us; that their patent
applications, patents and other intellectual property will protect our technology, products and business; or that
* their patent applications, patents and other intellectual property will not be challenged by third parties. Our
intellectual property also consists of trade secrets, which require more monitoring and control mechanisms to
protect. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or
otherwise obtain and use our products or technology. Monitoring unauthorized use of our products is difficult,
and we cannot be certain that the steps we take will prevent misappropriation or unauthorized use of our
technology. Further, other parties may independently develop similar or competing technology or design around
any patents that may be issued or licensed to us.

We use various methods to attempt to protect our intellectual property rights. However, we cannot be certain
that the steps we have taken will prevent the misappropriation of our intellectual property. In particular, the laws
in foreign couritries may not protect our proprietary rights as fully as the laws in the United States.

41



We face risks with regard to our third-party intellectual property licenses.

From time to time we may be required to license technology from third parties to develop new products or
product enhancements. We cannot assure you that third-party licenses will be available to us on commercially
reasonable terms, if at all. The inability to obtain a necessary third-party license required to develop new
products and product enhancements could require us to substitute technology of lower quality or performance
standards, or of greater cost, either of which could prevent us from operating our business. For example, Alcatel
currently holds patent cross licenses with various third parties that may be necessary for us to operate our
business. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to obtain these patent licenses from these third parties, or that
we will be able to obtain these licenses on favorable terms. If we are not able to obtain licenses from these third
parties, then we may be subject to litigation to defend against infringement claims from these third parties.
Further, Alcatel has cross licenses with various third parties, which when combined with their own intellectual
property, may permit these thirds parties to compete with us.

We may become subject to litigation or claims from or against third parties regarding intellectual
property rights, which could divert resources, cause us to incur significant costs, and restrict our ability to
utilize certain technology. ‘

We may become a party to litigation in the future to protect our intellectual property or we may be subject to
litigation to defend against infringethent claims of others. These claims and any resulting lawsuit, if successful,
could subject us to significant liability for damages and invalidation of our proprietary rights. These lawsuits,
regardless of their success, would likely be time-consuming and expensive to resolve and would divert
management time and attention. Any potential intellectual property litigation also could force us to do one or
more of the following:

» stop selling, incorporating or using our products that use the challenged intellectual property;

» obtain from the owner of the infringed intellectual property right a license to sell or use the relevant
technology, which license may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all;

« redesign the products that use the technology; or

¢ indemnify certain customers against intellectual property claims asserted against them.

If we are forced to take any of these actions, our business may be seriously harmed. Although we carry
general liability insurance, our insurance may not cover potential claims of this type or may not be adequate to
indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed. We may in the future initiate claims or litigation against third
parties for infringement of our proprietary rights in order to determine the scope and validity of our proprietary
rights or the proprietary rights of competitors. These claims could result in costly litigation and the diversion of
our technical and management personnel.

V1. Other Risks.

Our business and future operating results may be adversely affected by events that are outside of our
control.

Our business and operating results are vulnerable to interruption by events outside of our control, such as
earthquakes, fire, power loss, telecommunications failures and uncertainties arising out of terrorist attacks
throughout the world, including the continuation or potential worsening of the current global economic
environment, the economic consequences of additional military action and associated political instability, and the
effect of heightened security concerns on domestic and international travel and commerce. We cannot be certain
that the insurance we maintain against fires, floods and general business interruptions will be adequate to cover
our losses for such events in any particular case.

In addition, we handle hazardous materials as part of our manufacturing activities and are subject to a
variety of governmental laws and regulations related to the use, storage, recycling, labeling, reporting, treatment,
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transportation, handling, discharge and disposal of such hazardous materials. Although we believe that our
operations conform to presently applicable environmental laws and regulations;, we may incur costs in order to
comply with current or future environmental laws and regulations, including costs associated with permitting,
investigation and remediation of hazardous materials and installation of capital equipment relating to pollution
abatement, production modification and/or hazardous materials management. In addition, we currently sell
products that incorporate firmware and electronic components. The additional level of complexity created by
combining firmware and electronic components with our optical components requires that we comply with
additional regulations, both domestically and abroad, related to power consumption, electrical emissions and
homologation. Any failure to successfully obtain the necessary permits or comply with the necessary laws and
regulations could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law could delay or prevent
a change of control of us.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may discourage, delay
or prevent a merger or acquisition that a stockholder may consider favorable. These provisions allow us to issue
preferred stock with rights senior to those of our common stock and impose various procedural and other
requirements that could make it more difficult for our stockholders to effect certain corporate actions.

In addition, Alcatel and Corning own shares of Avanex common stock representing 24.58% and 13.53%,
respectively, of the outstanding shares of Avanex common stock as of September 7, 2004. Pursuant to the
stockholders” agreement entered into by Avanex, Alcatel and Corning, Alcatel and Corning are generally

- required to vote on all matters as recommended by the board of directors of Avanex, except, in the case of

Alcatel, for proposals relating to certain acquisition transactions between Avanex and certain competitors of
Alcatel. The concentration of ownership of our shares of common stock, combined with the voting requirements
contained in the stockholders’ agreement, could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or
otherwise discourage a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, unless the transaction is
approved by our board of directors.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio. The
objectives of our investment activities are preservation and safety of principal; maintenance of adequate liquidity
to meet cash flow requirements; attainment of a competitive market rate of return on investments; minimization
of risk on all investments; and avoidance of inappropriate concentrations of investments.

We place our investments with high quality credit issuers in short-term and long-term securities with
maturities ranging from overnight to 36 months. The average maturity of the portfolio will not exceed 18 months.
The portfolio includes only marketable securities with active secondary or resale markets to ensure portfolio
liquidity. We do not have any derivative financial instruments. Accordingly, we do not believe that our
investments have significant exposure to interest rate risk.

We have two equipment loans with a fixed rate of interest of 5.2% and 9.4%, respectively, with aggregate

- remaining principal and interest payments of $909,000 as of June 30, 2004.
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The following table summarizes the expected maturity, average interest rate and fair market value of the
short-term and long-term securities held by Avanex (dollars in thousands).

As of June 30, 2004

Years Ending

Total Fai
June 30, Amortized Ma“:'ll:et
2005 2006 Cost Value
Held-to-maturity SECUrities . .........ovviineeeeniineeennns $67,453 $55,145 $122,598 $121,110
Average interestrate . ............. .t 2.1% 2.2%
As of June 30, 2003
Years Ending Total Fair
June 30, Amortized Mar]ket
2004 2005 Cost Value
Held-to-maturity securities .......... ... .coiieunneeenn..n. $76,952 $47,063 $124,015 $124,340
AVErage interestrate . .......cutritntne i 2.2% 2.2%

Exchange Rate Risk

Our international business is subject to normal international business risks including, but not limited to,
differing economic conditions, changes in political climate, differing tax structures, other regulations and
restrictions, and foreign exchange rate volatility. Accordingly, our future results could be materially adversely
affected by changes in these or other factors.

We have operations in the United States, France and Italy. Accordingly, we have sales and expenses that are
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. As a result, currency fluctuations between the U.S. dollar
and the currencies in which we do business could cause foreign currency translation gains or losses that we
would recognize in the period incurred. We cannot predict the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on our future
operating results because of the variability of currency exposure and the potential volatility of currency exchange
rates.

We attempt to minimize our currency exposure risk through working capital management and by
maintaining a euro-denominated, highly liquid investment account to fund operations in France and Italy. At
June 30, 2004, the balance in our euro-denominated investment account was $23.5 million. Currently, we do not
hedge our exposure to translation gains and losses related to foreign currency net asset exposures.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The supplementary data required by Item 8 is presented in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Avanex Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Avanex Corporation as of June 30, 2004
and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended June 30, 2004. Our audits also include the financial statement schedule listed
in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Avanex Corporation at June 30, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2004, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule,
when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 6 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, in fiscal year 2003 Avanex
Corporation changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other purchased intangible assets.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto, California
July 30, 2004
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AVANEX CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

June 30,
2004 2003
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash €qUIVAIENTS . . ... .\ ettt $ 21,637 $ 10,639
Short-term investments (including $21.0 million restricted at2004) .. ...................... 67,453 76,952
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,483 at 2004 and $478 at
2003) o 16,610 2,614
CUINVENIOTIES . o oottt et e e e e e e 39,003 3,613
Due from related PATTES . .. ..o\t o 18,788 —
Other CUITENE ASSELS . . . . vt vt et et e et e e e e e et e e e e e e 9,787 1,070
TOtal CUITENE ASSEES . . . o v o vttt et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 173,278 94,888
Long-terM IMVESTMENES . . ..\ ettt ittt ettt e et e et et e e e e 55,145 47,063
Property and equipment, net . ... ... ... ... 13,977 5,455
Intangibles, MEL ... ... 14,400 —
GoodWill, Mt .o e e 9,408 —
ONEE ASSELS « o v v v e et et e e e e e e e 7,286 7,209
TOtAL ASSELS .« . v v oo e e et et e e e e e $ 273,494 $ 154,615
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term BOITOWINZS . ..« oo ettt e e $ 3,723 $§ 3,141
Accounts payable .. ... 21,395 5,647
Accrued compensation and related €XPenses . ........ ... i 11,239 2,279
WAITANLY . L . o o ettt et e e ettt e e e e e 6,125 2,707
Due torelated PAMTIES . . ...\t e e e e 2,609 —_
Other accrued BXPENSES . .« vt vttt ettt et e e 14,234 5,816
Current portion of long-term obligations .................. ... .. ... i 3,968 4,190
Current portion of restructuring Costs .. ........... .. i 26,181 6,400
Total current Habilities ... ..o e 89,474 30,180
Long-term liabilities:
ReSIUCTUIING COSS . . oottt ettt e et et e e e e e e 15,191 26,055
Other ObLIgatioNs . ...\ ov it 11,365 2,118
Total Habilities . .. ...\t e 116,030 58,353

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and
outstanding at June 30,2004 and 2003 . ... ... ..o oo AN — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2004 and 2003;
143,342,167 and 69,472,560 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2004 and 2003,

TESPECTIVELY o et e 143 69
Additional paid-incapital . ... ... 663,798 484,028
Deferred cOmMPensation .. ...... vttt e (596) (828)
Accumulated other comprehensive inCome . ........ ... e 5,193 —
Accumulated defiCit . ... ot e (511,074) (387,007)

Total stockholders” equity ... ... e 157,464 96,262
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .......... ... it $ 273,494 $ 154,615

See accompanying notes.
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AVANEX CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002
Net revenue:
Third parties . ... ..ottt e $ 74751 $ 21,416 $ 28,458
Related parties .. .........ouuniiiiiniia i 32,181 — 5,228
Total NELTEVEIIUE . .o\ vttt it et et et et et e 106,932 21,416 33,686
Cost of revenue {including direct material purchases of $27,706 from related
parties in2004) . ... 133,228 30,035 27,789
Stock compensation eXpense (TECOVETY) . ... vviinvninnannnnninn.. . 31 (202) 166
Gross profit (10ss) . ...t (26,327) (8,417) 5,731
Operating expenses:
Researchanddevelopment . .................. .. ... ...... 41,744 16,170 24,076
Salesand marketing ........... ... i 19,434 6,120 6,657
General and administrative (including $6,851 to related parties in
2004) . L e e 24,139 9,033 8,043
Stock compensation expense (IeCoOVery) ..................... 844 (107) 16,482
Acquired in-process research and development . ............... — — 5,445
Amortization of intangible assets .. ............ ... ... ...... 4,573 200 10,502
Reduction in long-lived assets ............. ... ... ... ...... — 1,548 —
Restructuring charges .. ........ .. o i 3,779 22,438 16,656
Merger Costs ... ...ttt 472 4,126 —
Total operating eXpenses . ............cc.oeeueinnenn... 94,985 59,528 87,861
Lossbefore the following .. ... i e (121,312)  (67,945) (82,130)
Interest and other inCOME .. ......cviinv .. 5,155 4,167 7,258
Interest and other eXpense . ..............coeriiiianaan... (1,856) (1,634)  (2,905)
Loss from continuing operations before discontinued operations and
cumulative effect of an accounting change ............ ... .. ..... ... (118,013) (65,412 (77,777
Loss from discontinued operations . ............c...ccoiiiiiiiin.... (6,054) — —
Loss before cumulative effect on accounting change ................... (124,067)  (65,412) (77,777)
Cumulative effect of an accounting change to adopt SFAS 142 ........... — (37,500) —
Nt 088 o o et e e $(124,067) $(102,912) $(77,777)
Loss per share from continuing operations before discontinued operations
and effect of an accounting change ................ ..., $ (090 $ (096) $ (1.2
Loss per share from discontinued operations . ......................... (0.05) — —
Loss per share from cumulative effect of an accounting change .. ......... — (0.55) —
Basic and diluted net loss per common share ............... ... ...... $ (095 $ @1.s51) $ (12D
Weighted average number of shares used in computing basic and diluted net
10ss per common Share .. ...t 130,561 63,371 64,308
(1) Below is the allocation of stock compensation expense (recovery):
Research and development . .................. ... .ouo... $ 363 $  (107) $ 6,883
Salesand marketing . .......... .o 374 (199) 88
General and administrative ............. . .. .. 107 199 9,511
$ 844 §  (107) $ 16,482

See accompanying notes.
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AVANEX CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Notes Accumulated
- : Additional Receivable Deferred Other Total
Common  Paid-in From Stock Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Stock Capital  Stockholders Compensation Income Deficit Equity
Balance at June 30,2001 ............ e $ 65 5488,341 $(2,048) $(34,686) — $(206,318)  $ 245,354
Issuance of 1,478,423 shares of common stock upon .
exercise of stock options and share purchase rights . . .. 1 874 — —_ — — 875
Issuance of 134,828 shares of common stock relating to
employee stock purchaseplan ............ ... .. — 539 —_ — — — 539
Payments received on stockholders’ notes receivable ...  — — 657 — — — 657
Forgiveness of stockholders’ notes receivable .. ........ — — 126 s — — 126
Issuance of 2,750,318 shares of common stock and .
assumption of options for 106,804 shares of common
stock upon acquisition of LambdaFlex ........... .. 3 12,363 — (€Y — — 11,789
Repurchase of 178,011 shares of common stock .. ... ... — - (191) — — — — (191)
Issuance of common stock options to consultants ....... — 28 — — — — ' 28
Deferred compensation associated with options
canceled ...... ... ... .00 S — (14,271) — 14,271 — — -
Deferred stock compensation .. ............o.vvoii — 7,961 — (7,961) — — —_
Amortization of deferred stock compensation .. ........ —_ —_ — 16,954 — — 16,954
Other .. e — (356) — — — — (356)
Net loss and comprehensive 10ss . ... vvvviivn, — — — — — 77,777) 77.777)
Balance at June 30,2002 ............... O 69 495,288 (1,265) (11,999) — (284,095) 197,998
Issuance of 748,887 shares of common stock upon
exercise of stock options and share purchase rights . . .. 1 253 — — — — 254
Issuance of 326,016 shares of common stock relating to
employee stock purchase plan .................... — 389 — — — — 389
Payments received on stockholders’ notes receivable ...,  — — 1,107 — — — 1,107
Forgiveness of stockholders’ notes receivable .. ........ — — 3 — — — 3
Repurchase of 1,098,784 shares of common stock ... ... (@8] 419) 155 —_ — — (263)
Deferred compensation associated with options
canceled ... . ... — (11,556) — 11,556 — — —
Amortization of deferred stock compensation .. ........ — — — (385) — = (383)
Stock based compensation related to stock options to ’ )
coNSUMANIS ... ... e — 39 — - — — 39
Stock based compensation related to acceleration of an
OPHON « v oot e et e — 34 — — _ — 34
Net loss and comprehensive loss .................... — — — — —_ (102,912) (102,912)
Balance at June 30,2003 ...... T 69 484,028 — (828) — (387.007) 96,262
Issuance of 715,730 shares of common stock upon : :
exercise of stock options and share purchase rights . . .. 1 1,297 — — — — 1,298
Issuance of 610,171 shares of common stock relating to ) .
employee stock purchase plan ...l 1 726 — — — — 727
Issuance of 192,584 shares of common stock relating to
exercise of warrants . ......... ...l — 648 — — — — 648
Issuance of 21,474,507 shares of common stock in
relation to the acquisition of Coming Assets . ........ 21 38,268 — _ — —_ 38,289
Issuance of 35,369,869 shares of common stock in
relation-to the acquisition of Alcatel Assets .......... 36 63,028 — — — —_ 63,064
Issuance of 1,371,430 shares of common stock in relation
to the acquisition of Vitesse Assets ................ 1 6,508 —_ — — — 6,509
Issuance of 14,135,316 shares of common stock in a .
private placement . ........ ... ... 14 68,245 — — — — 68,259
Charge related to warrants issued ................... — 407 — — — — 407
Deferred stock based compensation .................. — 643 — (643) — — —
Amortization of deferred stock compensation .......... — - — 875 — — 875
Comprehensive loss:
Cumulative translation adjustment . ................ — — = — 5,193 — 5,193
Netloss .o — - — — — (124,067) (124,067)
Comprehensive 10ss . ..... ... i (118,874)
Balance atJune 30,2004 ............. ... $143  $663,798 § — $ (596) $5,193 $(511,074)  § 157,464

See accompanying notes.
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AVANEX CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002
Operating activities
DA (510 1 P $(124,067) $(102.912) $ (77,777)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ... ....... ...ttt s 15,251 9,534 10,478
Amortization of intangibles ... ..... ... .. 4,573 200 10,502
Loss on disposal of property and eqUIPMENt .. .........uvuiuriiiiiii i 352 — —_—
Stock compensation eXpense (TECOVEIY) . ..ot v vttt ettt e ciiaan s r s 875 (309) 16,648
Acquired in-process research and development ......... ... ... .. ool — — 5,445
Non-cash portion of restructuring charges ......... ... ... .. ... i — 3,814 17,216
Provision for eXcess INVENLOTY . . ...\ttt i et et et e e e 1,000 4,327 4,345
Provision for doubtful aCCOUNLS . .. ..ottt e e e 1,005 82 307
Provision (reduction) for warranty accrual ... ... ... e 478 (987) (1,507)
Charge for MErZeT COSES .. .\ttt et ettt e e et e e — 4,126 —
Reduction in long-lived assets .......... ... i e — 1,548 —
Cumulative effect of an accountingchange ......... ... ... . .. . i, — 37,500 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
ACCOUNIS TECEIVADIE . . o e (11,774) 2,159 8,820
TRVENLOTIES .« o o ottt ettt et e e e e e et e e e e (8,089) (1,425) (4,409)
Due to/fromrelated parties .. ..........oo 1,168 — —
OMher CUITENE ASSELS . . . . o v oo ettt ettt e e e e e et 916 (53) 59
[ 4123 Ty £ 6,549 99 187
Accounts payable ... ... e 4,909 729 (11,138)
Accrued compensation and related eXpenses . ....... ... 764 (662) (1,843}
Accrued restruCturing . ... ..ot e (65,409) 10,844 (5,976)
WAITANLY . ..o oot e e (3,818) (148) (240)
Other accrued expenses and deferredrevenue ............. ... ... ... ... . ... .. ... (1,736) (1,990) (4,770)
Net cash used in operating activities . . ... .. ... vt it (177,053) (33,524) (33,653)
Investing activities
Purchases of held-to-maturity SECUrities . . .........ovui it (192,097) (79,943)  (193,233)
Maturities of held-to-maturity SECUTTtEs . . .. ... ottt 193,830 103,258 187,793
Purchases of other INVESUMIENTS . . . ..ottt e e et e e e (4,400) — —_
Purchases of property and equipment . .. ....... . ... . (2,514) (416) (2,261)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment . ... ... .. i 684 — —
(357 BT T £ O P — (1,988) (2,618)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, netof cash assumed . ...... ... .. .. .. . 117,986 —_ 234
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ............................. 113,489 20,911 (10,085)
Financing activities
Payments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations .......... ... ... .. ... (5,265) (5,078) (7,389)
Payments on short-term borrowWings . ... .. ...t e (106,999) (6,035) (4,510)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings and long-termdebt ....... ... ... ..o Lo 107,582 3,141 4,057
Borrowings under financing arrangements .. ........... 865 — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, netof repurchases .. .............. ... .. ... ... ... .. 70,932 378 1,414
Proceeds from payments of stockholders’ notes receivable ...................... ... ... — 1,107 657
OUET L e —_ —_ (65)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ............................. 67,115 (6.487) (5,836)
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash ... . ... . i 7,447 — —
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents . ........... . . .. 10,998 (19,100) (49,574)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .. .......... ... .. ... . oo 10.63% 29,739 79,313
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ........ ... . o ittt $ 21,637 $ 10,639 $ 29739
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash transactions
Equipment acquired under capital leases .............. . i e $ — 5 — § 1187
Issuance of common stock upon acquisitions . ......... .. i i e $107,861 § —  $ —
WATTANIS . ..ottt ittt et e e e e e e e $ 407 3% — 3 —
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Interest paid . . . ..o e 3 96 $ 1334 $ 2492

See accompanying notes.
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AVANEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2004

Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization and Basis of Presentation '

Avanex Corporation (“Avanex” or “the Company”) manufactures and markets fiber optic-based products,
known as photonic processors, which are designed to increase the performance of optical networks. The
consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially
from those estimates. Significant estimates made by management include the calculation of allowance for
doubtful accounts, inventory write downs, warranty provisions, impairment of goodwill and other acquired
intangible assets, acquired in-process research and development, restructuring expenses and litigation and
contingency assessments.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, money market funds, and other highly liquid investments with
maturities of three months or less when purchased.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company evaluates the estimated fair value of financial instruments using available market information
and valuation methodologies. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could
have a negative effect on the ‘estimated fair value amounts. The fair value of the Company’s cash, cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, short-term and long-term obligations and other current
liabilities approximates the carrying amount due to the relatively short maturity of these items.

Investments

Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments in debt securities at the time of
purchase and reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. Debt securities are classified as
held-to-maturity when the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity.
Held-to-maturity securities are stated at cost. Management has classified its entire investment portfolio as
held-to-maturity.

The cost of debt securities classified as held-to-maturity is adjusted for amortization of premiums and
accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization and interest on the securities are included in interest
income.

Concentration of Credit and Other Risks

Financial instruments, which subject the Company to potential credit risk, consist of demand deposit
accounts, money market accounts, short-term and long-term investments and accounts receivable. The Company
maintains its demand deposit accounts, money market accounts and short-term and long-term investments
primarily with two financial institations. The Company invests its excess cash principally in debt securities.
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The Company sells primarily to large communication vendors. The Company extends reasonably short
collection terms but does not require collateral from most of its customers. The Company maintains a provision
for credit losses resulting from the failure of its customers to make required payments. When the Company
becomes aware, subsequent to delivery, of a customer’s potential inability to meet its payment obligations, the
Company records a specific allowance for doubtful accounts. For all other customers, the Company records an
allowance for doubtful accounts based on the length of time the receivables are past due. If the financial
condition of its customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required. This may be magnified due to the concentration of its sales to a limited
number of customers. The Company has not experienced significant credit losses to date. Concentrations of
credit risk, with respect to these financial instruments, exist to the extent of amounts presented in the financial
statements.

As of June 30, 2004, approximately 52% of the Company’s employees worldwide were represented by labor
unions or labor organizations. Approximately 100 employees located in New York are represented by the
American Flint-Glass Workers Union AFL-CIO, including Local Union No. 1000 with a term to February 2005,
and approximately 400 employees located in Europe are represented by labor organizations.

Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods and are stated at the lower of cost
or market. Cost is computed on a currently adjusted standard basis (which approximates actual costs on a first-in,
first-out basis).

The Company writes off 100% of the cost of inventory that the Company specifically identifies and
considers obsolete or excessive to fulfill future sales estimates. The Company defines obsolete inventory as
inventory that will no longer be used in the manufacturing process. Excess inventory is generally defined as
inventory in excess of projected usage, and is determined using management’s best estimate of future demand at
the time, based upon information then available to the Company.

In estimating excess inventory, the Company used a range of six-month to twelve-month demand forecast in
fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2003 and 2002, the Company used a three-month demand forecast. The Company also
considered: 1) parts and subassemblies that can be used in alternative finished products, 2) parts and
subassemblies that are unlikely to be engineered out of the Company’s products, and 3) known design changes
which would reduce the Company’s ability to use the inventory as planned.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
provided on the straight-line method over the useful lives of the assets, generally two to five years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired enterprise or assets over the fair values
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company does not amortize goodwill, but tests for
impairment of goodwill on an annual basis and at any other time if events occur or circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable (see Note 6). Prior to the adoption of SFAS 142, the
Company amortized goodwill over its estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.
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Circumstances that could trigger an impairment test include but are not limited to: a significant adverse
change in the business climate or legal factors; an adverse action or assessment by a regulator; unanticipated
competition; loss of key personnel; the likelihood that a reporting unit or significant portion of a reporting unit
will be sold or otherwise disposed; results of testing for recoverability of a significant asset group within a
reporting unit; and recognition of a goodwill impairment loss in the financial statements of a subsidiary that is a
component of a reporting unit.

If the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an
impairment loss is recorded in net income (loss). Measurement of the fair value of the reporting unit is
determined using the income approach. The income approach focuses on the income-producing capability of an
asset, measuring the current value of the asset by calculating the present value of its future economic benefits
such as cash earnings, cost savings, tax deductions, and proceeds from disposition. Value indications are
developed by discounting expected cash flows to their present value at a rate of return that incorporates the risk-
free rate for the use of funds, the expected rate of inflation and risks associated with the particular investment.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of intellectual property acquired and purchased intangible assets.
Purchased intangible assets primarily include existing and core technology, trademarks and trade names, supply
agreements and customer lists. Other intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over
estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 5 years. ‘ '

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property, equipment and intangibles, for impairment
whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
fully recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount.
Impairment, if any, is determined using discounted cash flows.

Pension Benefits

For defined benefit pension plans, liabilities and prepaid expenses are determined using the Projected Unit
Credit Method (with projected final salary), and recognizing, actuarial gains and losses in excess of more than
10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation or 10% of the fair value of any plan assets, over the
expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan.

Foreign Currency

The functional currencies of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are their respective local currencies.
Accordingly, all assets and liabilities of the foreign operations are translated to U.S. dollars at current period end
exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are translated to U.S. dollars using weighted average exchange rates
in effect during the period. The gains and losses from the translation of these subsidiaries’ financial statements
into the U.S. dollar are recorded directly into a separate component of shareholders’ equity under the caption
“Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income™ in shareholders’ equity. Currency transaction gains and losses are
included in the Company’s results of operations.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Statement of Accounting Standards No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensive Income” (“FAS 130”) requires that
all items required to be recognized under accounting standards as components of comprehensive income,
including unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and foreign currency translation
adjustments, be reported in the consolidated financial statements. As a result, the Company has reported
comprehensive income (loss) within the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity.
Foreign currency translation adjustments for the year ended June 30, 2004 were a gain of approximately $5.2
million, resulting in a comprehensive net loss of $118.9 million. For the years ended June 30, 2003 and 2002, net
loss equaled comprehensive net loss.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenue recognition policy follows SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104, “Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements” and Emerging Issues Task Force Abstract 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements
with Multiple Deliverables”. Specifically, we recognize product revenue when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, the product has been shipped, title has transferred, collectibility is reasonably assured, fees
are fixed or determinable and there are no uncertainties with respect to customer acceptance. We record a
provision for estimated sales returns in the same period as the related revenues are recorded which is offset
against revenue. These estimates are based on historical sales returns, other known factors and our return policy.
If future sales returns differ from the historical data we use to calculate these estimates, changes to the provision
may be required.

Shipping Costs

The Company’s shipping and handling costs are included under cost of revenue for all periods presented.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended June 30,
2004, 2003 and 2002 were $598,647, $251,000 and $638,000, respectively, and are included in sales and
marketing expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock based awards to employees are accounted for under the intrinsic value method. Accordingly, deferred
stock compensation is recognized for an option or share purchase right that has an exercise price that is less than
the fair value of the common shares and is calculated as the difference between the option price or share purchase
right exercise price at the date of grant and the fair value of the Company’s common shares at that date. Such
deferred stock compensation is amortized over the vesting period, generally a maximum of four years, using the
accelerated expense attribution method.

Equity instruments granted to consultants are accounted for under the fair value method using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model and are subject to periodic revaluations over their vesting terms. The expense is
recognized as the instruments vest.

Pro forma information regarding net loss and net loss per common share under the fair value method for
options and share repurchase rights granted prior to the Company’s initial public offering was estimated at the
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date of grant using the minimum value method. The fair value of stock options, share purchase rights and shares
issued under the employee stock purchase plan (collectively the “options”) granted subsequent to the initial
public offering were valued using Black-Scholes valuation mode! based on the actual stock closing price on the
day previous to the date of grant. The option valuation models were developed for use in estimating the fair value
of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models
require the input of highly subjective assumptions. Because the Company’s stock-based awards have
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not
necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its stock-based awards. The fair value of these
options was estimated at the date of grant using the following weighted-average assumptions:

Employee Stock Option Plan Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Years Ended June 30, Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Risk-free interestrate ................. 3.3% 2.2% 3.7% 1.2% 1.7% 3.1%
Weighted-average expected life ......... 4 years 3years 3years O0S5years 0.5years 0.5 years
Volatility ........... ..o i 1.23 1.13 1.01 0.82 1.26 1.01

Dividendyield ....................... — — — — — —

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over
the options’ vesting period. The Company’s pro forma information is as follows (in thousands, except per share
data):

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002
Net loss:
Asreported . ... o $(124,067) $(102,912) $(77,777)
Stock-based employee compensation expense (recovery) included in
reported NEL10SS ..ot 875 (351) 16,561
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under
fair value based methods forallawards ........................ (17,014) (2,626) (38,029)
Proforma ....... ... $(140,206) $(105,889) $(99,245)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share:
ASTEPOTIEA . . . oo ottt e ettt e $ (095 %$ 15 $ (.2
Proforma ... e $ 107 $ (155 % (134

The pro forma impact of options on the consolidated net loss attributable to common stockholders for the
years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is not representative of the effects on consolidated net income (loss)
attributable to common stockholders for future years, as future years will include the effects of additional stock
option grants.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
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Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method to account for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse.

Earnings Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed in the same manner and also gives effect to all dilutive
common equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Common equivalent shares consist of stock options
issued to employees under employee stock option plans and warrants (see Note 13).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus on EITF 00-21
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”. EITF 00-21 sets out criteria for when
revenue on a deliverable can be recognized separately from other deliverables in a multiple deliverable
arrangement, EITF 00-21 was effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal quarters beginning after
June 15, 2003. The Company adopted this standard effective July 1, 2003 and such adoption has no material
impact on consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46
(FIN 46) “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” In December 2003, FIN
46 was revised to clarify certain provisions and change the effective date. FIN 46 requires certain variable
interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do
not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity
to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. Application of FIN
46 (as revised) is required for all variable interest entities or potential variable interest entities effective
December 31, 2003. Application of FIN 46 for all other entities is required effective March 31, 2004. The
Company adopted the provisions of FIN 46 effective July 1, 2003 and such adoption did not have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149 “Amendment of
Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (SFAS 149). SFAS 149 amends and clarifies
accounting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and
for hedging activities under SFAS 133. SFAS 149 is effective for contracts and hedging relationships entered into
or modified after June 30, 2003. The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 149 effective July 1, 2003 and
such adoption did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150 “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity” (SFAS 150). SFAS 150 establishes standards for classification and
measurement in the statement of financial position of certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 150 effective July 1, 2003 and such
adoption did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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Note 2. Acquisitions

On July 31,2003, the Company acquired Alcatel Optronics France SA, a subsidiary of Alcatel that operated
the optical components business of Alcatel, to augment its optical technologies and intelligent photonic solutions
product line with dense wave division multiplexing (DWDM) lasers, photodetectors, optical amplifiers,
high~speed interface modules and key passive devices such as arrayed waveguide multiplexers and Fiber Bragg
Grating (FBG) filters. Alcatel also assigned and licensed certain intellectual property rights to the Company. In
addition, the Company acquired certain assets of the optical components business of Corning to augment its
optical technologies and intelligent photonic solutions product line with optical amplifiers and lithium-niobate
modulators. Corning also assigned and licensed certain intellectual property rights to the Company. In
consideration for the above, the Company issued shares of its common stock to Alcatel and to Corning,
representing 28% (35.4 million shares) and 17% (21.5 million shares), respectively, of the outstanding shares of
the Company’s common stock on a post-transaction basis. The transactions were accounted for under the
purchase method of accounting.

On August 28, 2003, the Company acquired certain assets of Vitesse Semiconductor Corporation’s Optical
Systems Division to enhance its presence in transponders and expand its product offerings in subsystem products.
The Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Vitesse’s Optical Systems Division in exchange for 1.4
million shares of Avanex common stock. The transaction was accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting. ‘

The purchase price for these acquisitions is as follows (in thousands):

Alcatel Corning Asset  Vitesse Asset

Optronics Purchase Purchase
Value of securitiesissued . ... .. ... ... .. L. $63,064 $38,289 $6,509
Transaction costs and expenses . .................0.... 6,533 3,820 297
Total purchase price ............. i, $69,597 $42.109 $6.,806

The common stock issued in the acquisitions were valued based on the average closing price for two trading
days prior, the day of and two trading days subsequent to the public announcement of the transactions.
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Under the purchase method of accounting, the total purchase price as shown in the table above is allocated

to the net tangible and intangible assets based on their estimated fair values as of the date of the completion of
the transaction. The purchase price allocation is as follows (in thousands):

Alcatel Corning Asset  Vitesse Asset

Optronics Purchase Purchase
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments . ................. $108,613 $20,023 $ —
Long-term investments . ........oovuiinetnneiii i, 2,085 — —
Accountsreceivable ... ... L e 8,050 — —
TRVENLOTIES & o v v v o e ettt e e e e e e e 14,169 11,646 1,731
Other CUTTENE ASSEES &« o o v v vt et et e et e e e et e e 10,320 500 —
Due fromrelated party .......... .. .. i 12,578 4,237 —
Property and equipment ........... .. . i 10,176 - 8,679 1,612
Accounts payable ....... ... (15,564) — —
AcCTUEd EXPENSES . o .ot e (22,520) (2,433 —
RESITUCIUTING © o . ot e (64,294) (2,466) —
WAITANLY oottt e e et e e (1,406) (5,237) —
Supply agreement .. ... — (7,095) —
Other long-term obligations .......... ... ... . i i (3,185) — —
Nettangible assets . ... ...c.vver it 59,022 27,854 3,343
Intangible assets acquired—core and developed technology ........... 10,575 5,990 2,320
Goodwill ... — 8,265 1,143
Total purchase price . ...........viuiiiiiianinn i, $ 69,597 $42,109 $6,806

The Company acquired developed technology from Alcatel, which is comprised of products that are
technologically feasible, primarily including DWDM lasers, photodetectors, optical amplifiers, high-speed
interface modules and passive optical devices. Core technology and patents represent a combination of Alcatel’s
Optronics division processes, patents and trade secrets. The Company amortizes the developed technology on a
straight-line basis over an estimated life of 3-4 years. The Company acquired developed technology from
Corning, which is comprised of products that are technologically feasible, primarily including amplifiers,
dispersion compensation modules and modulators. Core technology and patents represent a combination of the
optical components business of Corning processes, patents and trade secrets. The Company amortizes the
developed technology on a straight-line basis over an estimated life of 3-4 years. The Company acquired
developed technology from Vitesse, which is comprised of products that are technologically feasible, primarily
including transponders. Core technology and patents represent a combination of the optical systems business of
Vitesse processes, patents and trade secrets. The Company amortizes the developed technology on a straight-line
basis over an estimated life of 3-4 years.

The Company allocated the purchase price of acquired companies and assets to the tangible and intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The Company engaged an
independent third-party appraisal firm to assist it in determining the fair values of the assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. Such valuations require management to make significant estimations and assumptions,
especially with respect to intangible assets.

The purchase price for the Corning Assets and Vitesse Assets resulted in the recognition of goodwill. The
primary factor contributing to the recognition of goodwill for Vitesse Assets was the ability to integrate a
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workforce with technical expertise. The primary factors contributing to the recognition of goodwill for the
Corning Assets included the integration of a workforce with the technical expertise and a deeper penetration of
the Company’s current customer base with a broader portfolio of products. The Company expects that the
goodwill for both the Corning and the Vitesse acquisitions will be deductible for tax purposes in the United
States. ’

The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of our consolidated results of
operations as if the Alcatel, Corning and Vitesse acquisitions had taken place at the beginning of each period
presented (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended June 30, .
o 2004 2003
Netrevenues ............... e e e S $116,961 § 106,246
Net loss before cumulative effect of an accounting change . .......... ... $(136,191) $(670,270)
Netloss ........ O woeeooe $(136,191)  $(707,770)
Weighted-average shares outstanding—basic and diluted .. ............. 135,569 126,732
Loss per share before cumulative effect of an accounting change .. ....... $ (1.00) $ (529
Basic and diluted loss pershare .............. .. ..., $ (1.00) $ (558
Note 3. Restructuring Charges
A summary of the Company’s restructuring accrual is as follows (in thousands):
June 30,
2004 2003

Acquisition-related accruals . ... i $15843 § —
(@ 111" O D 25,529 32,455
Total restructuring accruals . ... ... o 41,372 32,455
Less current portion ...............o.vei..n. P (26,181) (6,400)

$ 15,191  $26,055

Acquisition-related Accruals

In fiscal year 2004, the Company acquired the optical components businesses of Alcatel and Corning. As
part of the acquisitions, the Company recorded restructuring liabilities at July 31, 2003 with a fair value of $66.8
million relating to future workforce reductions which were included in the purchase price of the optical
components businesses of Alcatel and Corning. A summary of the accrued restructuring charges relating to these
acquisitions is as follows (in thousands):

Restructuring
Restructuring Accrual at
Charges from Cash June 30,
Acquisitions Payments 2004
Workforce Reduction ..., $66,760 $(50,917) $15.843
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Other Restructuring

Over the past several years, the Company has implemented vatious restructuring programs to realign
resources in response to the changes in the industry and customer demand, and the Company continues to assess
its current and future operating requirements accordingly.

During fiscal year 2003, the Company announced the closing of its facility in Richardson, Texas and the
integration of the functions in Richardson into its facility in Fremont, California. The Company also continued to
downsize its workforce, primarily in its manufacturing operations and further consolidated its facilities in ‘
Fremont, resulting in net restructuring charges of $22.4 million in fiscal year 2003.

During fiscal year 2004, the Company announced and implemented several additional restructuring
programs, described in the table below, throughout the organization. Restructuring charges for fiscal year 2004
were $7.9 million, offset by $3.5 million restructuring recovery relating to revised estimates of the net costs
associated with the Company’s abandoned leased facilities, and $0.6 million relating to sales of previously
abandoned equipment, resulting in net restructuring charges of $3.8 million. In connection with the restructured
leased facilities, the Company issued warrants to purchase 60,000 shares of its common stock to the landlord
amounting to $0.4 million (valued using the Black-Scholes method). These warrants have an exercise price of
$7.39 per share and expire on November 30, 2010.

The following table summarizes changes in the restructuring accrual for fiscal year 2004, excluding accruals
related to the acquisitions noted above (in thousands):

Restructuring Additional Restructuring
Accrual at Restructuring Adjustment/  Non-cash Cash Accrual at
June 30, 2003 Charges Recovery Adjustment Payments  June 30, 2004
Workforce Reduction ......... $ 17 $7.913 $ — $ — $ (1,759 $ 6271
Abandonment of excess
equipment . ............... — — (634) — 634 —
Abandonment of excess leased
facilities ................. 30,808 — (3,500) 407 (8,089) 18,812
Capitalleases ............... 1,530 — — — (1,084) 446
Total .................. $32,455 $7,913 $(4,134) $(407) $(10,298)  $25,529

Amounts related to the abandonment of excess leased facilities will be paid as the lease payments are due
through the remainder of the lease term through 2010. Capital lease payments are due over the term of the leases
through the third quarter of fiscal 2005.
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Note 4. Net Loss Per Share

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per
share data); .

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

Loss from continuing operations before discontinued operatlons and

cumulative effect of an accounting change ......................... $(118,013) $ (65.412) $(77.777)
Loss from discontinued operations " ............... .o, (6,054) — —
Cumulative effect of an accounting change to adopt SFAS 142 ........... — (37,500) —
Nt 0SS .« ottt $(124,067) $(102,912) $(77.777)
Basic and diluted: .
Weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding ........ 130,596 69,285 68,082
Less: weighted-average number of shares subject to repurchase . . ......... 35 914) 3,774)
Weighted-average number of shares used in computing basic and diluted net

loss percommonshare .......... . ... i 130,561 68,371 64,308
Loss per share from continuing operations before discontinued operations A

and cumulative effect of an accounting change ...................... $ 090 $ (096 § (1.2
Loss per share from discontinued operations .. ........................ (0.05) — —
Loss per share from cumulative effect of an accounting change to adopt

SFAS 142 —_ (0.55) —
Basic and diluted net loss per common share ... .. P $ (095 $ {dsSDH$ (a2h

During all periods presented, the Company had options to purchase common stock outstanding, which could
potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were excluded from the computation of diluted net
loss per share, as their effect would have been antidilutive. Options to purchase 17,292,000 shares of common
stock were outstanding at June 30, 2004, options to purchase 8,920,000 shares of common stock were
outstanding at June 30, 2003 and options to purchase 12,697,000 shares of common stock were outstanding at
June 30, 2002.

Note 5. Consolidated Balance Sheet Detail
Cash Equivalents, Short-Term and Long-Term Investments

The Company generally invests its excess cash in debt instruments of the U.S. Treasury, government
agencies and corporations with strong credit ratings. Such investments are made in accordance with the
Company’s investment policy, which establishes guidelines relative to diversification and maturities designed to
maintain safety and liquidity. To date, the Company has not experienced any significant losses on its
investments.
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Cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2004
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash Equivalents
Money MarketFunds ............. ... ... .. ... .. ..., $ 6,385 $ 8 $ — % 6,393
Corporate NOtes .. ..ot 9,013 — (463) 8,550
Corporate Bontds .. ...t 2,868  — (180) 2,688
18,266 8 (643) 17,631
Short Term Investments
Commercial Paper .. ..... ... ... . ... ... .. ... ... 999 — — 999
Certificate of Deposits .. ..., 5,402 - — 5,402
Market Auction Preferreds . ........... . .. .o L 4206 — (6) 4,200
United States Government Agencies . ................... 29,473 15 (139) 29,349
Corporate Bonds . ............. .. ... ... . i 27,373 5 (459) 26,919
67,453 20 (604) 66,869
Long Term Investments—due between one year and two years
Corporate Bonds . ............. .. ... .. i 4,998 — (54) 4,944
United States Government Agencies . ................... 50,147 — (849) 49,298
55,145 — 903) 54,242
Total .. .. $140,864 $ 28 $(2,150) $138,742
June 30, 2003
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash Equivalents
Money Market Funds . ......... ... ... ... . i, $ 10,714  $ 15 $— $ 10,729
Short Term Investments :
Corporate NOIES . ...t 7,677 — (45) 7,632
Certificate of Deposits .. ..., 2,376 — — 2,376
Auction Rate Receipts ......... .. ... ... ... . ... 3,875 — — 3,875
Market Auction Preferreds . ....... ... i 19,463 — (13) 19,450
United States Government AZencies . .................... 36,639 99 — 36,738
Corporate Bonds . .......... ... .. . i 4,897 44 — 4,941
Medivm Term Notes . . . ... ot 2,025 4 — 2,029
76,952 147 (58) 77,041
Long Term Investments—due between one year and two years
Corporate Bonds . ....... ... ... . . 8,677 45 — 8,722
United States Government Agencies ..................... 38,386 191 —_ 38,577
47,063 236 — 47,299
Total .. $134,729 $398 $ (58) $135,069
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Estimated fair value is based upon market prices quoted on the last day of the respective fiscal year. Due to

the nature of the investments, the Company considers unrealized losses to be other-than-temporary and are
expected to be recovered upon maturity.

Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
2004 2003 .
Raw materials . ...ttt e $23,260  $2,228
WOTK-IN-PIOCESS .« . oottt et e e e e e 6,565 845
Finished goods . . ... ... i 9,178 540

$39,003 33,613

In fiscal year 2004, the Company recorded charges to cost of revenue of $1.0 million for excess and
obsolete inventory primarily as a result of decreased demand for the Company’s products. In fiscal year 2003, the
Company recorded charges to cost of revenue of $4.3 million for excess and obsolete inventory that resulted
from $2.6 million of inventory that became obsolete due to a change in a customer’s product specification and
$1.7 million of excess inventory as a result of decreased demand for the Company’s products.

The Company sold inventory previously written-off with original cost totaling $1.2 million in fiscal year
2004 and $4.3 million in fiscal year 2003. The majority of this inventory sold in each year had been written-off in
a prior year. As a result, cost of revenue associated with the sale of this inventory was zero. The selling price of
the finished goods that included these components was similar to the selling price of products that did not include
components that were written-off. These items were subsequently used and sold because customers ordered
products (that included these components) in excess of the Company’s estimates.

The total cost of inventory written-off to June 30, 2004 is approximately $48.2 million, including receipts
under previously accrued non-cancelable purchase obligations. Of this amount, items representing $10.8 million
have been sold, items representing $1.8 million have been consumed in research and development activities,
items representing $18.0 million have been discarded, and items representing $17.6 million are on hand. The
ultimate disposition of the inventory items on hand will occur as the Company continues to transition it’s
manufacturing to third-party manufacturers in Asia.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,

2004 2003
Computer hardware and software . . ..................... P $ 5024 $ 1,318
Production and engineering equipment . ...................... 39,767 24,136
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures ...................... 2,250 746
Leasehold improvements .......... ... ... ... ... i 2,782 771

49,823 26,971
Accumulated depreciation ............. . . e (35,846) (21,516)

$13977 $ 5455

63




AVANEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
June 30, 2004

Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
2004 2003
VAT and Researchtax credit ....... ...t $7,650 $§ —
Prepaid expenses and otherassets . ............. . ..o, 2,137 1,070
TOtal . e $9,787  $1,070
Other Long-Term Assets
Other long-term assets consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2004 2003
Prepaid acquisition costs . . . .. PP $ — 86,620
Investment at cost ... .. O N 4,400 —
Deposits and other assets . . ........... ... ... i U 2,886 589

$7,286  $7,209

Warranties

The Company generally provides a product warranty for 12 months from the date of shipment. The
Company accrues for the estimated cost to provide warranty services at the time revenue is recognized. The
Company’s estimate of costs to service its warranty obligations is based on historical experience and expectation
of future conditions. To the extent the Company experiences increased warranty claim activity or increased costs
associated with servicing those claims, the Company’s warranty costs will increase resulting in decreases to gross
profit.

Changes in the Company’s product warranty accrual for fiscal year 2004 and fiscal year 2003 are as follows
(in thousands):

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003
Balance at beginning of year ............. e $2,707 $3,842
Acquired warranty obligations ................ e 6,643 —
Accrual for warranties issued during the period . .................. 2,326 733
Costof warranty repair . ............c.. i (3,704) (148)
Accrual related to pre-existing warranties
(including changes in estimates) ............covieeininnnnnn. 1,847y (1,720)
Balanceatendof year .............coiiiiiiiiiii $6,125 $2707

Note 6. Goodwill and Other Intangibles

In accordance with the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142 “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142), the Company performed the required two-step impairment tests of
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goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of July 1, 2002. In the first step of the analysis, the Company’s
assets and liabilities, including existing goodwill and other intangible assets, were assigned to its identified
reporting units to determine their carrying value. The Company believes it operates as one reporting unit. After
comparing the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair value, it was determined that the goodwill recorded
was impaired. After the second step of comparing the implied fair value of the goodwill to its carrying value, the
Company recognized a transitional impairment loss of $37.5 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2003. This
loss was recognized as the cumulative effect of an accounting change.

The fair value of the reporting unit was determined using the income approach. The income approach
focuses on the income-producing capability of an asset, measuring the current value of the asset by calculating
the present value of its future economic benefits such as cash earnings, cost savings, tax deductions, and proceeds
from disposition. Value indications are developed by discounting expected cash flows to their present value at a
rate of return that incorporates the risk-free rate for the use of funds, the expected rate of inflation, and risks
associated with the particular investment. ‘

As required by SFAS 142, intangible assets that did not meet the criteria for recognition apart from goodwill
were reclassified to goodwill. The Company reclassified $314,000 of net assembled workforce to goodwill as of
July 1, 2002. o

The following financial information reflects consolidated results adjusted as though the accounting for
goodwill and other intangible assets was consistent in all periods presented (in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

Reported net loss before cumulative effect of an accounting change ....... $(124,067) $ (65,412) $(77,777)
Add back goodwill (including assembled workforce) amortization ........ — — 10,022
Adjusted net loss before cumulative effect of an accounting change ....... (124,067y  (65,412) (67,755)
Cumulative effect of an accounting change ........................... — (37,500) —
Adjusted net1oss . ... e o $(124,067) $(102,912) $(67,755)
Adjusted basic and diluted net loss per share: .
Reported basic and diluted net loss pershare .................... PR $ (095 % (096 § 1.21)
Add back goodwill (including assembled workforce) amortization ........ — — 0.16
Adjusted basic and diluted net loss per share before cumulative effect of an

accounting change ........ ... ... ... 0.95) (0.96) (1.05)
Cumulative effect of an accounting change .. ............ [ a C—_ (0.55) —
Adjusted basic and diluted net loss per share . ........... SN e $ 095 $ (1.5 $ (1.05
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss and adjusted net loss per o

ST . .. e - 130,561 68,371 64,308
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The following table reflects the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill including assembled workforce
(in thousands): ‘

Balance at July 1,2002 .. ... o0t e Cee $ 37,186
Workforce transferred to goodwill ... .. 314
Adjusted balance at July 1,2002 ... i e 37,500
Transitional impairment 10ss . ....... .o (37,500)
Balance at June 30,2003 ... ... -—
Acquisition-refated goodwill . ... ... .. . . oo 9,408

Balance at June 30, 2004 . . ...t $ 9,408

The gross and net carrying amount of other intangible assets as of June 30, 2003 was zero. The following
table reflects the carrying amount of intangible assets at June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

_ Amount Amortization Amount
Purchased Technology .................. $16,165 $(3,742) $12,423
Supply Agreement . ..................... 1,838 (562) 1,276
Other..................T ..... e 882 - (181 701
Total ........ e e $18,885 $(4,485) $14.400

The future amortization of other intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

Amount

Fiscal years ending June 30,
200 e e e i $ 5,079
2006 . e [P 5,079
2007 . e 4,242
$14,400

Note 7. Long-Lived Assets

During the quarter ended December 31, 2002, the Company committed to a plan to dispose of certain
property, equipment and intellectual property rights and entered into a non-binding letter of intent to sell such
assets to a group that included an employee of the Company. The sale was completed on January 10, 2003. In
accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
(SFAS 144), the Company was required to measure these assets held for sale at the lower of their carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell as of December 31, 2002. The carrying value of the assets held for sale was -
$1.8 million with a fair value of $0.3 million resulting in a reduction in long-lived assets of $1.5 million in the

quarter ended December 31, 2002, of which $0.2 million related to property and equipment and $1.3 million
related to intangibles.

In February 2004, the Company entered into a share acquisition agreement with Gemfire Corporation
(“Gemfire”) pursuant to which Gemfire acquired the Company’s silica planar lightwave circuit (“PLC”) product
line manufactured in Livingston, Scotland, which was acquired in the Company’s acquisition of Alcatel
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Optronics in the first quarter of fiscal 2004. For fiscal year; 2004, the Company recorded a net loss from
discontinued operations of $6.1 million, and there was'no gain or loss on disposition.

Note 8. Related Party Transactions

In September 2000, the Company loaned $150,000 to an officer in connection with his acceptance of
employment. The interest rate on the promissory note was 6.50% per annum. The Company forgave the principal
amount of the note in fiscal year 2002 and the accrued interest due on the note was paid in fiscal year 2002. The
forgiveness of the loan was pursuant to the terms of his employment, which guaranteed a $150,000 bonus or
forgiveness of the loan. The principal amount forgiven is included in general and administrative expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of 0perat1ons for fiscal 2002.

In connection with the exercise of certain stock options and share purchase rights granted-under the
Company’s stock option plan, the Company received promissory notes equal to the total exercise price of these
stock options and share purchase rights. These full recourse promissory notes, which bore interest at rates
ranging from 4.99% to 6.21% per annum, and accrued interest were payable in full to the Company, generally
four to five years from the date each of the promissory notes was issued. Promissory notes for the exercise of
certain stock options and share purchase rights totaling $1,265,000 were outstanding as of June 30, 2002. These
notes were repaid in fiscal year 2003. These notés were classified as a reduction of stockholders’ equity.

During fiscal year 2002, the Company forgave $75,000 due under a promissor}} note for the exercise of
certain stock options from a former executive officer as part of a separation agreement. Additionally, the
Company forgave a total of $50,850 due under promissory notes for the exercise of certain stock options from
two executive officers. This forgiveness was in consideration of the executive officers’ continued employment
with the Company, pursuant to the terms and conditions of their respective promissory notes and related
agreements.

One of the Company’s directors is a senior. vice president of MCI. MCI accounted for 0.27%, 0% and 16%
of the Company’s net revenue for the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

On July 31, 2003, Alcatel was issued 28% of the Company’s commén stock and Corning was issued 17% of
the Company’s common stock on a post-acquisition basis. The Company sells. products and purchases raw
materials and components from Alcatel and Corning in the regular course of business. Additionally, Alcatel and
Corning provide administrative and other transitional services to the Company. Sales of products to Alcatel and
Corning were $31.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively, during the period August 1, 2003 through June 30,
2004. Purchases of raw materials and components from Alcatel and Corning were $4.0 million and $23.7 million,
respectively, during the period August 1, 2003 through June 30, 2004. As of June 30, 2004, the Company had
paid $4.2 million and $2.7 million to Alcatel and Corning, respectively, for administrative and other transitional
services. Amounts due from Alcatel and Corning were $16.5 million and $2.3 million, respectively, at June 30,
2004, including $9.9 million and $2.3 million, respectively, relating to receivables arising in the acquisition.
Amounts due to Alcatel and Corning were $0.7 million and $1.9 million, respectively, at June 30, 2004.

Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies’
Operating Leases
In September 1999, the Company entered into an operatmg lease for a corporate headquarters and

manufacturing facility. Upon the expiration of the lease in October 2009, the Company has an option to extend
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the lease term for an additional five-year period. In July 2004, the Company assumed certain operating leases in
Europe in connection with its acquisitions. The Company also has-an operating lease for certain facilities in
Newark, California which the Company no longer occupies, the remaining lease obligation of which is included
in accrued restructuring costs.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases having initial terms in excess of one
year as of June 30, 2004 are as follows (in thousands): '

Amount Inciuded in
Total Cash Accrued Restructuring Remaining

Obligation Liability Obligation
Years ending June 30,

2005 L e 6,905 (3,653) 3,252
2006 ... N 6,011 (3,802) 2,209
2007 ... ... e 6,123 (3,935) 2,188
2008 . 6,236 (4,053) 2,183
2000 .. 5,792 4,173) 1,619
Remaining years . ............. ..o . 5,540 (5,268) 272
Total minimum lease payments . ......... $36,607 $(24,884) $11,723

The Company’s rental expense under operating leases was approximately $5,456,000, $2,696,000 and
$3,309,000 for the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Future minimum sublease rentals to
be received on a restructured facility are $157,000, $196,000 and $118,000 for the years ending June 30, 2005,
2006 and 2007.

Contingencies
IPO Class Action Lawsuit

On August 6, 2001, Avanex, certain of its officers and directors, and various underwriters in its initial public
offering (“IPO”) were named as defendants in a class action filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York, captioned Beveridge v. Avanex Corporation et al., Civil Action No. 01-CV-7256.
This action and other subsequently filed substantially similar class actions have been consolidated into In re
Avanex Corp. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 01 Civ. 6890. The consolidated
amended complaint in the action generally alleges that various investment bank underwriters engaged in
improper and undisclosed activities related to the allocation of shares in Avanex’s [PO. Plaintiffs have brought
claims for violation of several provisions of the federal securities laws against those underwriters, and also
against Avanex and certain of its directors and officers, seeking unspecified damages on behalf of a purported
class of purchasers of Avanex’s common stock between February 3, 2000, and December 6, 2000. Various
plaintiffs have filed similar actions asserting virtually identical allegations against more than 40 investment
banks and 250 other companies. All of these “TIPO allocation™ securities class actions currently pending in the
Southern District of New York have been assigned to Judge Shira A. Scheindlin for coordinated pretrial
proceedings as In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92. On October 9, 2002, the claims
against Avanex’s directors and officers were dismissed without prejudice pursuant to a tolling agreement. The
issuer defendants filed a coordinated motion to dismiss all common pleading issues, which the Court granted in
part and denied in part in an order dated February 19, 2003. The Court’s order did not dismiss the Section 10(b)
or Section 11 claims against Avanex. A stipulation of settlement for the claims against the issuer defendants,
including Avanex, has been submitted to the court. The settlement is subject to a number of conditions, including
approval of the court. If the settlement does not occur, and litigation against Avanex continues, Avanex believes
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it has meritorious defenses and intends to defend the action vigorously. Nevertheless, an unfavorable result in
litigation may result in substantial costs and may divert management’s attention and resources, which could
seriously harm our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

High Hopes Enterprises and Hon Hai Precision Industry Co. Litigation

On May 31, 2002, High Hopes Enterprises Ltd. and Hon Hai Preciéi_on Industry Co., Ltd., filed an action in
the Superior Court of California, County of Alameda, against us alleging breach of an oral contract, breach of the
covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of implied contract, promissory estoppel, deceit by fraud and
deceit by negligent misrepresentation. This action was settled in October 2003 with the mutual consent of both
parties under terms of a confidentiality agreement. The settlement did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

From time to time, the Company may be subject to other claims, which arise in the normal course of
business. Although the amount of any liability with respect to such litigation cannot be determined, in the
opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these claims will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial position, cash flows or results of operations. However, depending on the amount and
timing, an unfavorable resolution of a matter could materially affect the Company’s future results of operatlons
or cash flows in a particular period. :

Note 10. Pension and post-retirement benefits other than pension plans

With the acquisition of the optical components business of Alcatel, Avanex assumed a defined benefit
pension plan covering the employees in France. The benefit obligation recorded on acquisition (project benefit
obligation) was actuarially determined. Disclosures about the plan are as follows (in thousands):

Pension
Benefits
2004

Change in benefit obligation )
Benefit obligation assumed on acquisition at July 31,2003 ......... ... ... .. . ..., $3,230
SEIVICE COSL .« vttt ittt et e e e e e e e 177
Interestcost ....... ... . i e 156
Settlement/curtailments ............. e (397
Actuarial loss/gain . ............. ... ... e 1,194
Benefit obligation at June 30, 2004 . ... ... ... $4,360
Weighted-average assumptions as of June 30, 2004
DiSCOUNTTAtE . . oot 4.50%
Rate of compensation iNCIEASE . . .. .. oottt ittt e 2.50%
Expected residual active life . ...... ... . .. . 13

Components of net periodic cost

SIVICE COSE .\ ottt it e e e e e e e $ 177

Expected interest COSt . . ...ttt t it P 156

Amortization of actuarial net 10ss .. ... .. e 397

Effect of curtailments .. ........ ittt e et e i e e e DA (397)
$ 333

Net periodic benefitcost ......... ... .. . i e

Accumulated benefit obligation .. ... ... ... $3,326
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The benefit obligation of $4.4 million is included in other long-term obligations in the consolidated balance
sheet at June 30, 2004. The last actuarial valuation of the plan was as of June 30, 2004,

The Company maintains a savings and retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.
All employees are eligible to participate on the first day of the month following their hire date with the Company.
Under the plan, employees may contribute up to 15% of their pré tax salaries per year but not more than the
statutory limits. The Company contributes 50% of the employee’s contribution up to the first 3% of
compensation.

Note 11. Financing Arfangements
Short-Term Borrowings

The Company maintains a revolving line of credit with a financial institution which allows maximum
borrowings up to $20.0 million and terminates on December 31, 2004. This line of credit requires the Company
to comply with specified covenants. At June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2003 the Company had borrowings of
$3.7 million and $3.1 million, respectively, against this line. Additionally, the line of credit secures three letters
of credit totaling approximately $3.6 million in the aggregate relating to certain facility leases and software
related financing which expire in September through March 2005. The line bears interest at prime plus 1.25%
and, at June 30, 2004 the effective interest rate was 5.25% (4.0 % at June 30, 2003). The line of credit is
collateralized by $21.0 million in short-term investments at June 30, 2004 and a pledge of all the Company’s
assets.

Other Long-term Obligations

In January 2004, the Company entered into an installment payment agreement with a financial institution
whereby the financial institution agreed to loan to the Company an aggregate principal amount of $865,000 to be
used to finance the acquisition of SAP software, which is collateral for the outstanding loan under the agreement.
The designated interest rate for the loan was 5.2% and the maturity date for the loan is September 1, 2004.

In February 2001, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a financial institution to borrow
$2,269,000 to be used to finance equipment, which is collateral for the outstanding loan under the agreement.
The designated interest rate is 9.406% and the maturity date for the loan is November 28, 2006. As of June 30,
2004 and 2003, the Company had $126,000 and $840,000 outstanding, respectively.

Payments due under financing arrangements as of June 30, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending June 30,

2005 L $ 439

20006 . 313

2007 ... e e e e e e 157

TOtal PAYIENLS . . . .o\ o v oe et e e e e e 909

Less: Amounts representing interest . ............couiiniirneneininnenn .. (53)
Present value of net remaining payments . .............c..coeueuivnnnnnaan... 856
Less Current POrtiON . ..o vo v vttt et e et e e e e e e e 407)
LOng-term POTLION . . v\ttt vttt ettt e e $ 449
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Capital Lease Obligations

The Company leases certain of its equipment and other fixed assets under capital lease agreements. The
assets and liabilities under capital leases are recorded at the lesser of the present value of aggregate future
minimum lease payments, including estimated bargain purchase options, or the fair value of the assets under
lease. Assets under capital leases are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or useful life of the assets.

In connection with the acquisition of the optical components business of Alcatel, the Company assumed
additional capital lease obligations totaling $7.4 million as of June 30, 2004 at interest rates ranging from 3.1% to
7.7% with varying maturity dates through fiscal 2009.

Payments due under capital lease agreements for certain equipment as of June 30, 2004 are as follows
(in thousands): : ‘

Amount Included in
Total Cash Accrued Restructuring Remaining

Obligation Liability Obligation
Years ending June 30, A :
©2005 ... S B $ 4,383 $(456) $ 3,927
2006 ... 1,843 — 1,843
2007 o e 1,593 — 1,593
2008 . 1,342 - 1,342
2000 .. Cee 1,119 — : 1,119
Remaining years .......... e PR 447 — 447
o 10,727 (456) 10,271
Amount representing interest . . . ........ ... ... (876) 10 (866)
Present value of net minimum lease payments ...... 9,851 : (446Yy 9,405
Lesscurrentportion . ...........ovviiiiinin.. 4,008 446 3,562
Long-term portion ...................... R $ 5843 $— $ 5.843

At June 30, 2004 and 2003, equipment amounting to approximately $15,726,000 was capitalized under
capital leases. Related accumulated amortization at June 30, 2004 and 2003 amounted to approximately
$15,658,000 and $12,884,000, respectively. The lease agreements are payable in monthly installments through
May 2005, bearing interest.at rates between 8.5% and 15.5% per annum, and are fully secured by the related
equipment.

Note 13. Stockholders’ Equity
Securities Purchase Agreements

In November 2003, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement pursuant to which the
investors named therein purchased, in the aggregate, 6,815,555 shares of our common stock at a price of $4.63
per share for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $31.5 million. Net proceeds from this transaction
amounted to approximately $29.6 million after payment of fees to financial and legal advisors and other direct
costs. In connection with the issuance of the shares of common stock, the investors were issued rights, which
were exercisable for up to an additional 1,363,116 shares of our common stock at $4.63 per share. During fiscal
year 2004, 193,584 shares of common stock were issued upon the exercise of certain of such rights. The
remainder of the rights expired on March 16, 2004.
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In February 2004, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement pursuant to which the investors
purchased, in the aggregate, 7,319,761 shares of common stock of the Company at a price of $5.49 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $40.2 million. Net proceeds from this transaction amounted to
approximately $38.7 million after payment of fees to financial and legal advisors and other direct costs. In
connection with the issuance of the shares of common stock, the investors were issued rights that were
exercisable for up to an additional 1,463,954 shares of the Company’s common stock at $5.49 per share, none of
which were exercised. These rights expired on June 9, 2004.

Stock Option/Rights Plans

The Company adopted the 1998 Stock Plan (the “Option Plan”), under which officers, employees, directors,
and consultants may be granted Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) and Nonstatutory Stock Options (“NSOs”) to
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock.

The Option Plan permits ISOs and NSOs to be granted at an exercise price of not less than 100% of the fair
value on the date of grant as determined by the Board of Directors. Options that expire (generally ten years from
the grant date) or are canceled are returned to the Option Plan. The term of the Option Plan is ten years. Options
may be granted with different vesting terms as determined by the Board of Directors. The options typically vest
over four years.

The authorized shares under the Option Plan automatically increase each July 1 by an amount equal to the
lesser of (i) 6,000,000 shares, (ii) 4.9% of the Company’s outstanding shares, or (iii) a smaller amount
determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. A total of 5,718,145 shares of the Company’s common stock
have been reserved for future issuance under the Option Plan as of June 30, 2004.

In January 2000, the Company adopted the 1999 Director Option Plan (the “Director Plan”). Non-employee
directors are entitled to participate in the Director Plan. The Director Plan generally provides for an automatic
initial grant of an option to purchase 40,000 shares of Avanex common stock to each non-employee director on
the date when a person first becomes a non-employee director. After the initial grant, each non-employee director
will automatically be granted subsequent options to purchase 10,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
each year on the date of the Company’s annual stockholders’ meeting. Grants generally shall have a term of 10
years. Each initial option grant will vest as to 25% of the shares subject to the option on each anniversary of its
date of grant. Each subsequent option grant will fully vest on the anniversary of its date of grant. The exercise
price of all options will be 100% of the fair market value per share of Avanex common stock on the date of grant.

The Director Plan also provides for automatic annual increases each July 1, by an amount equal to the lesser
of (i) 150,000 shares, (ii) 0.25% of the outstanding shares on that date, or (iii) a smaller amount determined by
the Company’s Board of Directors. A total of 520,000 shares of the Company’s common stock have been
reserved for future issuance under the Director Plan as of June 30, 2004.
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Stock.option activity under the option plans and the director plan is as follows:

Outstanding Options
Weighted-
Average Exercise
Number of Shares Price
Balance at June 30,2001 ...... e e RUUDU L. 7,288,002 $28.02
Options granted . .............. R F o 8,878,170 5.03
Options assumed in LambdaFlex acquisition .. ................... L 106,804 039
Options exercised .................... e . (478,423) 1.82
Options canceled . . .. .. S PP e FERT - (3,097,405) 33.45
Balance at June 30, 2002 . .. ... 12,697,148 11.38
Options granted . . . . .. e e - -3,892,545 0.92
Options exercised .. ... e S . (748,887) 0.34
Options canceled . ........ e {(6,920,751) 10.35
Balance at June 30, 2003 .. ... e e e . 8,920,055 8.54
Options granted . . . . . e e © 10,614,136 3.84
Options exercised . ... ... ... . i (715,730) 1.81
Optionscanceled . ...... . ... i (1,526,898) 4.12
Balance at June 30, 2004 . . ... ... 17,291,563 . $633
Outstanding . ' - . Exercisable
. Weighted- Average Weighted- .
Number of Remaining Average ‘Number of Weighted-
Range of Exercise Shares As of - Contractual Life Exercise Shares As of . Average
Prices June 30, 2004 . (in years) Price ‘ June 30, 2004 . Exercise Price
$003-% 030 1,892,101 8.38 $ 075 < 743,123 $ 0.72
$081-$% 2.60 2,072,052 9.11 1.92 400,327 1.45
$267-% 342 1,369,723 9.52 321 127,992 . 3.09
$343-8 343 1,749,200 9.10 343 —_ —
$3.51-% 374 149,348 . T1.30 3.68 90,200 3.68
$395-% 395 1,950,000 - 9.08 © 395 - : — —
$400-8 437 215,051 7.90 4.18 88,476 4.12
$439-% 439 2,113,600 947 4.39 - — —
$450-% 489 1,225,837 8.80 4.73 302,960 471
$4.90 - $142.00 4,554,651 7.23 15.24 3,097,143 19.50
17,291,563 4,850,221

Under the Option Plan, the Company may also grant share purchase rights either alone, in addition to, or in
tandem with other awards granted under the Option Plan and/or cash awards granted outside the Option Plan.
Exercise of these share purchase rights are made pursuant to restricted stock purchase agreements containing
provisions established by the Board of Directors. These provisions give the Company the right to repurchase the
shares at the original sales price. This right expires at a rate determined by the Board of Directors, generally at a
rate of 25% after one year and 1/48 per month thereafter. During the year ended June 30, 2002, the Company
issued 1,000,000 share purchase rights under the Option Plan. There were no share purchase rights issued in the
years ended June 30, 2004 and 2003. Shares subject to repurchase were O as of June 30, 2004, 171,668 shares as
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of June 30, 2003, and 2,037,418 shares as of June 30, 2002. For the years ended June 30, 2003 and 2002, the
Company repurchased 1,098,784, and 178,011 shares, respectively, under the Option Plan, and no shares were
repurchased for the year ended June 30, 2004.

The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted at fair value and below fair value during fiscal
year 2004 was $2.61. The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted at fair value during fiscal year
2003 was $0.74. The weighted-average fair value of stock options and share purchase rights granted at fair vaiue
and below fair value during fiscal year 2002 and 2001 was $3.98 and $6.24, respectively.

For the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Company recorded deferred stock compensation of
$642.000, $0, and $8,538,000, respectively, representing the difference between the exercise price and the fair
value for accounting purposes of the Company’s common stock on the date such stock options and share
purchase rights were granted. The fair value of stock options and share purchase rights granted was based on the
actual stock closing price on the day previous to the date of grant. For the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and
2002, the Company recorded amortization (recovery) of deferred stock compensation of $875,000, $(309,000)
and $16,648,000, respectively. At June 30, 2004, the Company had $596,000 of remaining unamortized deferred
compensation. Such amount is included as a reduction of stockholders’ equity and is being amortized over the
vesting period.

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In January 2000, the Company adopted the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Stock Purchase
Plan”) for its employees. The Stock Purchase Plan permits participants to purchase the Company’s common
stock through payroll deductions of up to 10% of the participant’s compensation. The maximum number of
shares a participant may purchase during each offering period is 3,000 shares. The price of common stock
purchases will be 85% of the lower of the fair market value at the beginning of the offering period and the ending
of the offering period. As of June 30, 2003, 495,060 shares have been issued under the Stock Purchase Plan.

The Stock Purchase Plan provides for automatic annual increases each July 1, to shares reserved for
issuance by an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 750,000 shares, (ii) 1% of the outstanding shares on that date, or
(iii) a smaller amount determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. A total of 2,105,181 shares of the
Company’s common stock have been reserved for future issuance under the Stock Purchase Plan as of June 30,
2004.

Shares Reserved

Common stock reserved for future issuance is as follows:

June 30, 2004

Stock options:

Options outstanding ........ ... 17,291,563
Reserved for future grants . ........ ... .. .. .. ... .. .. ... 6,305,340
Employee stock purchaseplan .............. ... .. ... ... .. ... .... 2,105,181
WAITANS .« o vt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e e 60,000

Total common stock reserved for future issuance ............... 25,762,084
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Note 14. Income Taxes

. There has been no provision for U.S. federal, U.S. state or foreign income taxes for any annual period as the
Company has incurred operating losses since mceptlon for all jurisdictions.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary d1fferences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards ............. ... .. .. .. $ 89,110 $ 46,549
Tax credit carryforwards .......... . ... ... o oL 4,074 -.3,063
INVENtOry TESEIVES . . o ottt 8,251 -8,941
" Restructuring charges .. ............oeeneerennono.... 8,522 12,580
Other ... 6,124 4,931
Total deferred tax assets .......................... 116,081 76,064
Valuation allowance ............... .. ... ... i (116,081)  (76,064)
Net deferred (aX aSSEIS . . . ..o vvvv e — —
Deferred tax liabilities:
Purchased intangibles . ......... ... ... ... ... ...l — —
Total deferred tax liabilities . .................... .. — -—

Net deferred tax assets . ..., .. $ — $  —

Realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of
which are uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The
valuation allowance increased by $40.0 million, $13.0 million, and $10.8 million in the years ended June 30,
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Deferred tax assets related to net operating loss carryforwards at June 30, 2004 include approximately $14.0
million associated with stock option activity for which any subsequently recognized tax benefits will be credited
directly to stockholders’ equity.

As of June 30, 2004, the Company has net operating loss and research and development tax credit carry-
forwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $184.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively, which
expire in years 2012 through 2024, The Company also has net operating loss and research and development tax
credit carry-forwards for state income tax purposes of approximately $110.0 million and $2.5 million,
respectively. The state net operating loss carry-forwards expire beginning in the year 2008 and the research and
development tax credit can be carried forward indefinitely. The Company also has foreign net operating loss
carry-forward of approximately $60.2 million which expire beginning in the year 2009. Utilization of the
Company’s net operating loss may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. Such an annual limitation could
result in the expiration of the net operating loss before utilization.
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Note 15. Market Sales, Export Sales, Significant Customers, and Concentration of Supply

The Company’s chief operating decision maker is considered to be the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”). The CEO reviews the Company’s financial information presented on a consolidated basis substantially
similar to the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the Company has concluded that it
operates in one segment, to manufacture and market photonic processors, and accordingly has provided only the
required enterprise wide disclosures.

The Company had net sales by geographical region based on the location of the entity purchasing the.
Company’s products as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002
United STAteS . .. v\ v e e e $ 51,988 $17.584 $19,121
BUurope ...t 35,229 2,859 3,140
Restoftheworld ....... ... ... 19,715 973 11,425

$106,932 321,416  $33,686

Revenues have been principally derived from the sales of our product portfolio, which was significantly
enhanced by the acquisitions of the optical component businesses of Alcatel and Corning.

Long-lived assets by geographical area (in thousands):

June 30,
2004 2003
DOMESHIC ottt e $18,129  $5,455
FOTEIEN ..\ttt e 10,248 —

$28,377  $5,455

Net assets by geographical area (in thousands):

June 30,
2004 2003
DOMESHIC . . v et ettt e e $134,363  $96,262
Foreign ... i i 23,101 —

$157.464  $96,262
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June 30, 2004
Net loss by geographical area (in thousands):
June 30,
2004 2003 2002
DOMESHC .« oo e vt e $ (63,840) $(102,912) $(77.777)
Foreign ......:........... e (60,227) — —

$(124,067) $(102,912) $(77,777)

Revenue by component (in thousands):

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002
ACHVES v e v o e e e e e e e $ 69,852 $ 3,440 $ 2,527 .
Passives . ... . e 37,080 17,976 31,159

$106,932  $21,416  $33,686

The following table summarizes information on customers (including sales to their contract manufacturers)
that accounted for greater than 10% of revenue:

Percent of
Accounts
Receivable at
Percent of Net Revenue June 30,

Customer 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003
Alcatel ... ... ... 30 * * 23 *
CiscoSystems .. ... 20 57 32 * 60
Ciena . ... 11 * * * *
Fujitsu . ........ U * £ 19 * *
MCIU/WorldCom ... .o * * 16 * *
e T * k12 * *
SOITENLO . .ot e * 12 * * *
Total ... .. 61 % 69% 79% 23% 60%

* less than 10%

The Company currently purchases several key parts and components used to manufacture its products from
limited sources of supply.

77



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

Our management evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evaiuation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information we
are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission
rules and forms.

Changes in internal controls over financial reporting.

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2004 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART HI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item concerning our directors, compliance with Section 16 of the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934 and our code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal
financial officer and principal accounting officer is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the
sections entitled “Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and
“Election of Directors~—Corporate Governance Matters—Code of Conduct” in our Proxy Statement for our 2004
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120
days after the end of our fiscal year. »

The information required by this item concerning our executive officers is incorporated by reference to the
information set forth in the section entitled “Executive Officers of the Company” at the end of Part I of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Election of
Directors—Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the
Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Certain
Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Ratification of
Appointment of Independent Registered Public. Accounting Firm—Accounting Fees” in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Financial Statements
(1) Index to Financial Statements
The Financial Statements required by this item are submitted in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.
(2) Financial Statements Schedules
The following financial statement schedule of Avanex Corporation for each of the past three years in the

period ended June 30, 2004 should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of Avanex
Corporation.

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Allowance For Doubtful Accounts:

Additions
Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning of Costs and Deductions End of
Period Expenses Write-Offs (1) Period
Year ended June 30,2002 .............. $1,009,000 307,000 396,000 $ 920,000
Year ended June 30,2003 .............. $ 920,000 82,000 524,000 $ 478,000
Year ended June 30,2004 .............. $ 478,000 1,005,000 — $1,483,000

(1) Represents uncollectible accounts written off net of the reversal of charges to costs and expenses.
All other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or the information
required to be set forth therein is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits
See Ttem 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibits

We have filed, or incorporated into this Annual Report by reference, the exhibits listed on the accompanying
Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of this Form 10-K.

(¢) Financial Statement Schedule

See Item 15(a) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant
has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Fremont, County of Alameda, State of California, on September 13, 2004.

AVANEX CORPORATION .

By: /s/ LINDA REDDICK
‘Linda Reddick
Chief F ina_ncial Officer
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Jo S. Major, Jr. and Linda Reddick, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact
and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place, and stead,
in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto,
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and
thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of
them or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has
been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ Jo S. MAJOR, Jr. President, Chief Executive Officer and September 13, 2004
Jo S. Major, Jr. Director (principal executive
officer)
/s/  LINDA REDDICK Chief Financial Officer ‘(pr'incipal September 13, 2004
Linda Reddick : financial and accounting officer) :
/S/ WALTER ALESSANDRINI Chairman of the Board of Directors September 13, 2004
Walter Alessandrini
/s/ VINTON CERF Director , September 13, 2004
Vinton Cerf
/s/  SYRUS P. MADAVI Director ’ September 13, 2004
Syrus P. Madavi
/s/ JOSEPH A. MILLER, JR. Director : September 13, 2004
Joseph A, Miller, Jr. ’
/s/ ToDD BROOKS Director September 13, 2004
Todd Brooks ) ) ’
/s/ JoEL A. SwrTH TII Director September 13, 2004
Joel A. Smith 11
/s/  SUSAN WANG Director . : September 13, 2004
Susan Wang :
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Exhibit
Number

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

2.1

31
3.2

4.1
4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

10.1*

10.2%

10.3*
10.4*

10.5%*
10.6*

10.7%

10.8*

Share Acquisition and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2003, by and between Avanex
Corporation, Alcatel and Corning Incorporated (which is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 16, 2003).

Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as amended to date (which is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 16, 2000).

Bylaws of the Regisfrant (which are incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 17, 2004).

Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the
Registrant’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement No. 333-92097 on Form S-1 filed on
January 14, 2000).

Preferred Stock Rights Agfeement, dated as of July 26, 2001, between the Registrant and the
EquiServe Trust Company, N. A. (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the
Registrant’s Form 8-A filed on August 24, 2001).

First Amendment to the Preferred Stock Rights Agreement dated as of March 18, 2002, between the
Registrant and the EquiServe Trust Company, N. A. (which is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant’s Form 8-A/A filed on March 28, 2002).

Second Amendment to the Preferred Stock Rights Agreement dated as of March 18, 2002, between
the Registrant and the EquiServe Trust Company, N. A. (which is incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 4.3 of the Registrant’s Form 8-A/A filed on May 30, 2003).

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Registrant and each of its directors and officers (which
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement
No. 333-92027 on Form S-1 filed on December 3, 1999).

1998 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of agreement thereunder (which is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement
No. 333-92097 on Form S-1 filed on January 14, 2000).

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (which is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on September 17, 2002).

1999 Director Option Plan, as amended (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of
the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on September 17, 2002).

Avanex Corporation Incentive Compensation Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement between the Registrant certain of its executive
officers (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Registrant’s Registration
Statement No. 333-92027 on Form S-1 filed on December 3, 1999).

Form of stock option agreement between the Registrant and certain of its executive officers (which is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on September 20, 2002).

Form of stock option agreement between the Registrant and certain of its executive officers (which is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on September 26, 2003).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

109 *

10.10%

10.11*

10.12*
10.13*
10.14*
10.15%

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

Forms of stock option agreements between the Registrant and certain of its directors (which are
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on September 20, 2002).

Forms of stock option agreements between the Registrant and certain of its directors {which are
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Regzstram Ky Annual Report on Form 10-K

. filed on September 26, 2003).

Terms of Employment dated January 6, 2003 between the Registrant and Walter Alessandrini (which
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on February 7, 2003).

Offer of Employment between Giovanni Barbarossa and the Registrant dated November 20, 2002.
Offer of Employment between Douglas Hall and the Registrant dated July 10, 2003.
Offer of Employment between Jaime Reloj and the Registrant dated October 25, 2002.

Compromise Agreement date November 21, 2003 between Richard Laming and Avanex UK Limited
(which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on February 17, 2004).

Lease between the Registrant and Stevenson Business Park LLC for Building B of 40919
Encyclopedia Circle, Fremont, California dated September 8, 1999 (which is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.25 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement No. 333-92027 on Form S-1
filed on December 3, 1999) v

Lease Agreement between Stevenson Business Park, LL.C and the Registrant for Buﬂdmg C of 40919
Encyclopedia Circle, Fremont, California dated March 1, 2000 (which is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.38 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 16,
2000). ‘ o

‘Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Secﬁrity Agreement between Comerica Bank-

California and the Registrant dated July 10, 2000 (which is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.31 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 21, 2000).

Lease Agreement between GAL-LPC Stevenson Boulevard, LP and the Registrant for Buildings A ‘
and E of 39611 and 39630 Eureka Boulevard, Newark, California dated August 9, 2000 (which is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.35 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on November 15, 2000). -

Second Amendment to Revolving Credit and Security Agreement between Comerica Bank-
California and the Registrant dated January 2, 2001 (which is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.37 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 15, 2001).

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated

Tuly 19, 2001 between the Registrant and Comerica Bank-California (which is incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.38 of the Regzstrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 17,
2001). .

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated
September 26, 2002 between the Registrant and Comerica Bank-California (which is incorporated
herein by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on October 29, 2002).

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated

June 18, 2003 between the Registrant and Comerica Bank-California (which is incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 26,
2003). : .

&3




Exhibit
Number Description

10.24 Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement dated
December 31, 2003 between the Registrant and Comerica Bank-California (which is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
February 17, 2004).

10.25 Stockholders’ Agreement between Avanex Corporation, Alcatel and Corning Incorporation dated as
of July 31, 2003 (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2003).

10.26% Intellectual Property Rights Agreement between Corning Incorporated and Avanex Corporation
Relating to Photonics dated as of July 31, 2003 (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.2 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A filed on January 16, 2004).

10.27% Agreement of Sublease between Corning Property Management Corporation and Avanex
Corporation dated as of July 31, 2003 (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A filed on January 16, 2004).

10.28 Consent and Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement between Pirelli S.p.A, Corning
Incorporated, Corning O.T.L S.r.L., and Avanex Corporation dated as of July 31, 2003 (which is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on November 14, 2003).

10.29 Lease Agreement between Pirelli S.p.A, and Avanex Corporation as successor in interest to Corning
O.T.L. S.r.L. effective as of January 1, 2003 (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.5 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2003).

10.30 Intellectual Property License Agreement between Alcatel and Avanex Corporation dated as of
Tuly 31, 2003 (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2003).

10.31% Supply Agreement between Alcatel and Avanex Corporation dated as of July 31, 2003 (which is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q/A filed on January 16, 2004).

10.327 Frame Purchase Agreement for Opto Electronic Components between Avanex Corporation and
Alcatel dated as of July 31, 2003 (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibir 10.8 of the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A filed on January 16, 2004).

10.33 Commercial Lease between Société Immobiliére Villarceaux-Nozay and Avanex France dated as of
August 1, 2003 (which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2003).

21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24.1 Power of Attorney (See page 81).

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and‘Ch'ief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

Section 1350.

+ Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment granted by the
Commission. - o
* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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